Doctoral theses at NTNU, 2022:249

Liv Riseth

# Long-term fitness center use

NTNU Norwegian University of Science and Technology Thesis for the Degree of Philosophiae Doctor Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences Department of Public Health and Nursing



Norwegian University of Science and Technology

Liv Riseth

# Long-term fitness center use

Thesis for the Degree of Philosophiae Doctor

Trondheim, September 2022

Norwegian University of Science and Technology Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences Department of Public Health and Nursing



Norwegian University of Science and Technology

#### NTNU

Norwegian University of Science and Technology

Thesis for the Degree of Philosophiae Doctor

Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences Department of Public Health and Nursing

© Liv Riseth

ISBN 978-82-326-6577-8 (printed ver.) ISBN 978-82-326-6777-2 (electronic ver.) ISSN 1503-8181 (printed ver.) ISSN 2703-8084 (online ver.)

Doctoral theses at NTNU, 2022:249

Printed by NTNU Grafisk senter

# Sammendrag

En stor andel av den voksne norske befolkningen er medlem av et treningssenter. Treningssentre er dermed en viktig arena for fysisk aktivitet for mange mennesker. Mange medlemmer bruker likevel treningssenteret lite og uregelmessig og slutter etter kort tid. Selv om helsefordelene med fysisk aktivitet først oppnås ved regelmessig og kontinuerlig fysisk aktivitet, har eksisterende forskning hovedsakelig fokusert på bruk av treningssenter over en kortere tidsperiode. Den overordnete hensikten med denne avhandlingen var derfor å undersøke bruk av treningssenter over tid. Det ble gjennomført tre studier med følgende mål:

- I. Undersøke om tidlig støtte via telefon og e-post til nye medlemmer på treningssenter hadde effekt på antall bookinger hos treningsveileder, antall besøk og medlemskapsvarighet over fire år.
- II. Utforske hva langtidsmedlemmer (≥to år) sier de ønsker å oppnå med medlemskapet og faktorer som påvirker dem til å bruke treningssenteret.
- III. Undersøke om langtidsmedlemmer (≥to år) sin bruk av treningssenter de foregående 18 måneder er assosiert med senere selvrapportert måloppnåelse.

Studiene ble utført blant medlemmer ved 3T-Treningssenter (3T) i Trondheim, Norge, med bruk av både kvalitative og kvantitative metoder. Den første studien var en randomisert kontrollert studie blant 356 nye medlemmer. Den andre studien var en kvalitativ studie med semi-strukturerte individuelle intervju med 21 langtidsmedlemmer. Den tredje studien var en longitudinell register- og spørreskjemabasert studie blant 2851 langtidsmedlemmer.

Studie I viste at tidlig støtte påvirket bookinger til treningsveiledere, men ikke antall dager med besøk eller medlemstid i løpet av fire år. Det ble også observert at en betydelig andel hadde få besøk, og omtrent 60% og 80% hadde avsluttet medlemskapet etter henholdsvis to og fire år. Alder over 40 år og to dager (≥) med besøk hver måned de første seks månedene ble prospektivt assosiert med lengre medlemstid. I studie II sa medlemmene at helse og utseende var hovedårsakene til langvarige bruk av treningssenteret. Selv om bruk av treningssenteret ble oppfattet som positivt, var det utfordrende for noen medlemmer å bruke senteret så mye de ville. Studie III fant at medlemmer som hadde flere dager med besøk og gruppetimebookinger, samt de som besøkte senteret regelmessig i løpet av 18 måneder, rapporterte høyere påfølgende måloppnåelse. Antall bookinger hos en trener var ikke konsekvent assosiert med måloppnåelse.

Basert på funnene i denne avhandlingen og tidligere forskning, kan det konkluderes med at det er behov for nye tilnærminger for å oppmuntre nye medlemmer til å bruke treningssenteret og for forskning på effekten av disse intervensjonene. Videre synes det å være verdt innsatsen å øke andelen langsiktige medlemmer som opplever høy måloppnåelse ved å støtte dem til økt bruk av treningssenteret. Slik innsats kan omfatte det å hjelpe medlemmene med å overvinne barrierer som variasjoner i aktiviteter, forplikte seg og det å få støtte fra ansatte.

Kandidat:	Liv Riseth
Institutt:	Institutt for samfunnsmedisin og sykepleie
Veiledere:	Professor Aslak Steinsbekk
	Professor Tom Ivar Lund Nilssen
Finansiering:	Norges Forskningsråd og 3T-Treningssenter (grant number 239657)

# Acknowledgments

I wish to thank 3T-Fitness Center, The Research Council of Norway, and the Department of Public Health and Nursing at NTNU for giving me this opportunity and for the valuable support I consistently received throughout the entire PhD period. I am also very grateful for all the participants who contributed to the research in this thesis.

I extend my thanks to my supervisors for their support and contributions to the work with this thesis. I am especially grateful to my main supervisor, Professor Aslak Steinsbekk, for his patience and extensive knowledge, and to my co-supervisor, Professor Tom Ivar Lund Nilsen, for his expertise and invaluable help with the statistical analyses. I also want to acknowledge Torunn Hatlen Nøst and Hilde Marie Thommesen Holck for their involvement and contributions in the work with this thesis.

I would also like to express my gratitude to my colleagues in the Research Group for Patient Education and Participation in the Department of Public Health and Nursing. This thesis would not have been possible without their support, knowledgeable discussions, and refreshing and lively lunch breaks and café visits. I am so grateful that I had an opportunity to get to know each person. Throughout this thesis journey, they were always there for me in the good as well as in the challenging times.

Last but not least, I want to thank my family and close friends who have supported and encouraged me during my PhD work. It has been a long and bumpy ride and one I could not have completed without all the support, love, and care you have shown me. I am so fortunate and privileged to have all of you in my life! My gratitude also goes to my mother and father, for their unconditional love and support throughout my life and for having faith in me. Finally, thank you to Andreas and Frode for all you two are to me. You guys are the best!

> Trondheim, October 2021 Liv Riseth

# Table of contents

Sammendrag	3
Acknowledgments	5
Summary	9
Abbreviations	11
List of included papers	
1. Background	
1.2 Fitness centers	14
1.2.1 Fitness centers and public health	16
1.2.2 Who uses fitness centers?	
1.2.3 Motives for being a member of a fitness center	
1.2.4 Members' use of fitness centers	
1.3 Supporting new members to become long term users	
1.4 Maintaining long-term use of fitness centers	
1.5 Summary of knowledge gaps	
2. Aim of the thesis	
3. Methods	
3.1 Study design	
3.2 Setting	
3.3 Study population	
3.3.1 Study I	
3.3.2 Study II	
3.3.3 Study III	
3.3.4 Overview of all relevant members in the fitness center chain	
3.4 The intervention in Study I	
3.5 Data collection	
3.5.1 Registry data in Studies I and III	
3.5.2 Interviews in Study II	
3.5.3 Survey questions in Study III	
3.6 Data analyses	
3.6.1 Analyses in Study I	
3.6.2 Analyses in Study II	
3.6.3 Analyses in Study III	

3.7 Ethical considerations
4. Results
4.1 Participants
4.1.1 Description of participants
4.1.2 Comparison of study participants with members at 3T
4.2 Study I
4.3 Study I
4.4 Study III
5. Methodological considerations
5.1 Reflexivity
5.2 Transferability
5.4 Study designs
5.5 Data sources and data collection
5.5.1 Registry data in Studies I and III
5.5.2 Semi-structured individual interviews in Study II
5.5.3 Questionnaire data in Study III
5.6 Data analyses
5.6.1 Statistical analyses in Study I
5.6.2 Text analyses in Study II
5.6.3 Statistical analyses in Study III
6. Discussion of main findings
6.1 Summary of findings
6.2 Low use and high numbers of membership termination
6.3 Supporting new members
6.4 What characterizes long-term fitness center use?
6.5 Influencing factors for long-term fitness center use
7. Conclusions
8. Implications for future research and practice
References
Paper I-III Appendix

### Summary

A large proportion of the adult population are fitness center members. Fitness centers are thus an arena for physical activity for many people. On the other hand, many members have only a few visits and quit shortly after enrollment. Although regular and continuous physical activity is necessary to realize the health benefits of physical activity, existing research has mainly focused on fitness center use over a shorter period. Therefore, the main aim of this thesis was to investigate long-term fitness center use. Three studies were conducted with the following aims:

- I. Investigate if initial support given to new members via telephone and e-mail compared to self-directed use—had an effect on fitness trainer bookings, days with fitness center visits, and a membership duration of four years.
- II. Explore what long-term members (> two years) aim to achieve with their membership and identify important factors influencing them to use the fitness center.
- III. Investigate if long-term fitness center members' fitness center use over the previous 18 months was associated with subsequent self-reported goal achievement.

The studies were conducted among members at the 3T-Fitness center (3T) in Trondheim, Norway, using qualitative and quantitative methods. The first study was a randomized controlled trial among 356 new members. The second study was a qualitative study using semi-structured individual interviews with 21 long-term members. The third study was a longitudinal registry- and survey-based study of 2851 long-term members.

Study I showed that the initial support influenced fitness trainer bookings but not the number of days with a visit or membership duration during four years. It was also observed that a sizable proportion paid the center few visits and approximately 60% and

9

80% had terminated their membership after two and four years, respectively. Being older than 40 years and going to the center two or more days each month within the first six months were prospectively associated with longer membership duration. In Study II, the members said that health and appearance were the main reasons for their long-term use of the fitness center. Although using the fitness center was positively perceived, some members found it challenging to visit the center as much as they wanted. Study III found that members who had a greater number of days with a visit and group activity bookings, along with those who visited regularly during the previous 18 months, reported higher subsequent goal achievement. The number of bookings with a fitness trainer was not consistently associated with goal achievement.

Based on the findings in this thesis and previous research, it can be concluded that a need exists both for fresh approaches to encourage new members to use the fitness center and for research on the effect of these interventions. Furthermore, to increase the proportion of long-term members that experience high goal achievement, supporting them to increase both their frequency and regularity of use seems to be worthwhile efforts. Such efforts could include helping them overcoming barriers like variations in activities, making commitments, and getting support from the staff.

# Abbreviations

3T	3T-Treningssenter/Fitness center
BRP	The BRP Systems AB
CI	Confidence interval
HR	Hazard ratio
НАРА	Health Action Process Approach
NTNU	Norwegian University of Science and Technology
PAM	Physical activity Maintenance Theory
RCT	Randomized controlled trial
REK Central	The Regional Committee for Medical and Health Research Ethics in Central Norway
SDT	Self-Determination Theory
SCM	Sport Commitment Model
SD	Standard deviation
STC	Systematic text condensation
Virke	The Federation of Norwegian Enterprise
VAS	Visual analogue scale
WHO	World Health Organization

# List of included papers

The thesis is based on the following three papers:

# Paper I

Liv Riseth, Tom Ivar Lund Nilsen, Øyvind Mittet, Aslak Steinsbekk The effect of initial support on fitness center use in new fitness center members. A randomized controlled trial. Preventive medicine reports (2021). 24:101605 doi: 10.1016/j.pmedr.2021.101605

# Paper II

Liv Riseth, Torunn Hatlen Nøst, Tom Ivar Lund Nilsen, Aslak Steinsbekk Long-term members' use of fitness centers: a qualitative study. BMC Sports Science, Medicine and Rehabilitation (2019). 11: 2. doi: 10.1186/s13102-019-0114-z

# Paper III

Liv Riseth, Tom Ivar Lund Nilsen, Torunn Hatlen Nøst, Aslak Steinsbekk Fitness center use and subsequent achievement of exercise goals. A prospective study on long-term fitness center members. BMC Sports Science, Medicine and Rehabilitation (2022). 14: 9. doi: 10.1186/s13102-022-00400-w

# 1. Background

Given the well-documented positive health effects of long-term physical activity (Ekelund et al., 2016; Lee et al., 2012), increasing the level of physical activity in populations worldwide has become a national and global priority (World Health Organization, 2016, 2018), backed by recommendations for physical activity in numerous countries (Kahlmeier et al., 2015; The Norwegian Directorate of Health, 2021; World Health Organization, 2010). However, many people do not meet these recommendations (Guthold et al., 2018, 2020; Hallal et al., 2012; Kohl et al., 2012; van Sluijs et al., 2008, 2021); thus, increasing the proportion of people who do meet physical activity recommendations can significantly improve public health (Hupin et al., 2015; Wen et al., 2011).

One way to be physical activity, is to be a member of a fitness center (European Commission, 2018) which is the focus population of this thesis.

In the forthcoming sections of this chapter, the background for the thesis is presented. The chapter starts with a short note on published research before a description of the fitness center as an arena for physical activity, as well as its role in and significance for public health. After that, it discusses member characteristics, what members aim to achieve, and how the fitness center is used. Finally, it outlines new member support and long-term fitness center use.

## 1.1 Published research on fitness centers

Fitness center as a separate term in PubMed (<u>www.pubmed.gov</u>) ("Fitness Centers"[MeSH Terms]) yielded approximately 600 results when used as a search term in March 2022. By adding ("sports center\*"[Title/Abstract] OR "sports club\*"[Title/Abstract] OR "fitness club\*"[Title/Abstract] OR "fitness trainer\*"[Title/Abstract] OR "personal trainer\*"[Title/Abstract]), the number of hits increased to about 1600. Other specific searches developed for PubMed is given in Appendix. These search concepts were also used as the basis for searches in other data bases such as Scopus, PsycINFO, Web of Science, Sports Discuss, and Google Scholar. Furthermore, relevant grey literature from governments, World Health Organization (WHO), and the fitness industry was also searched for and included when appropriate and when there was a lack of scientific literature.

The searches revealed that most publications on fitness centers focus on new members or special groups of users, including ones who need rehabilitation or have specific diseases. Thus, even though fitness centers offer a frequently used environment for physical activity, as elaborated below, the scientific literature on the topic of this thesis—that is, long-term fitness center use—remains sparse.

#### 1.2 Fitness centers

Fitness facilities that exist today are diverse and go by many names, including *gyms*, *health clubs, sport centers, fitness centers*, and *wellness centers*, and they may cater to exercise, health, and/or wellness. Common to all of these fitness facilities, and in contrast to sports, is the absence of competition, such that both average people and professional athletes of all ages can exercise side by side (Scheerder et al., 2020). Fitness centers are also primarily commercial and professional, and they offer various workouts in group classes, in primary workout areas, and via recreational activities (Scheerder et al., 2020).

Although fitness centers have existed since the 1940s, their number has risen dramatically since 1980, and they have changed from "old-school bodybuilding gyms to trendy health and well-being centers that offer a wide range of physical activities" (Scheerder et al., 2020). Today's fitness industry ranks among the largest providers of opportunities for physical activity (European Commission, 2018) and includes various facilities such as low-cost gyms, fitness clubs that are accessible 24/7, and women-only fitness centers (Scheerder et al., 2020).

Virke, the Federation of Norwegian Enterprise, also reported that the fitness industry in Norway has demonstrated tremendous development, as shown in Figure 1 (Open et al., 2019; Open et al., 2018; Virke Trening, 2016). In the 1960s, Norway only had about 30 small fitness centers, mostly offering free weights and a few exercise machines (Virke Trening, 2016); today, it has approximately 1,200 fitness centers. Most Norwegians have access to a fitness center, and more than 90% of all residents live in a municipality with at least one fitness center (Open et al., 2019; Open et al., 2018).



Figure 1. Timeline of the development of fitness centers in Norway (Open et al., 2019; Open et al., 2018; Virke Trening, 2016)

Virke Trening (2013) published a report that divided fitness centers in Norway into fullassortment centers, niche centers, and compact/low-price centers. Full-assortment fitness centers provide a variety of workout options in group classes and recreational activities. They are staffed during opening hours, and some offer free help and guidance to members through the staff. Access to personal trainers at an additional fee is also common in full-assortment centers, and some even offer saunas, childcare facilities, member lounges, and cafés. In contrast, niche fitness centers offer specific activities (e.g., Pilates, yoga, or CrossFit), cater to specific groups (such as women), and/or provide specific services only (e.g., personal training). Lastly, compact and low-price fitness centers focus on individual exercise without group activities or personal trainers, although such trainers can be hired at an additional fee; such centers have a high degree of self-service and few employees (Virke Trening, 2013). At the time of Virke Trening's report in 2013, full-assortment fitness centers constituted 74% of all fitness centers, niche centers constituted 7%, and compact and low-price centers constituted 19%.

Norwegian fitness centers are often commercial and require membership contracts and a monthly fee, varying from approximately 249 NOK to 929 NOK (Bratland-Sanda et al., 2020). Full-assortment centers, however, require a higher monthly payment than niche, compact, and low-price centers (Virke Trening, 2013).

#### 1.2.1 Fitness centers and public health

A report by the European Commission (2018) on sport and physical activity estimated that 11% of Europe's population attend private fitness centers, and 31% are physically active at work, school, clubs, and/or sports centers. At the time, Sweden had the highest proportion of residents (41%) reporting attendance at a health or fitness center, while Lithuania (3%), France (5%), and Latvia and Slovenia (both 6%) had the lowest proportions (European Commission, 2018). According to a Norwegian report from 2019, approximately 30% of Norway's adult population are members of a fitness center (Open et al., 2019).

Because a sizable proportion of the global population are members of fitness centers (European Commission, 2018), such centers play a role in public health by serving as arenas for physical activity. This trend was acknowledged in the Global Action Plan for Physical Activity by the WHO (2018), which explicitly mentioned fitness and sports facilities in three of the actions, for providing opportunities for more physical activity programs and health promotion (Action 1.4), strengthening the training of professionals within and outside the health sector (Action 2.5), and assuring equitable access to safe places and spaces for physical activity (Action 3.3) (World Health Organization, 2018). In a white paper in 2015, the Norwegian Ministry of Health and Care Services highlighted fitness centers as being important to local public health, as they help

increase the level of physical activity in the population by providing centers that are conveniently located and easily accessible (The Ministry of Health and Care Services (HOD), 2015). Since then, the magnitude of activities and the high degree of competence in physical activity have also been identified as essential contributions to general public health in the Norwegian government's action plan for physical activity (The Ministry of Health and Care Services (HOD), 2020). In the future, the plan suggested increased collaboration around physical activity between fitness centers, municipal health and care services, and other providers (The Ministry of Health and Care Services (HOD), 2020).

# 1.2.2 Who uses fitness centers?

The European Commission's (2018) report showed that the majority of members of fitness centers are highly educated and younger than 25 years old, with countries differing in terms of whether more are men or women. In addition to already physically active individuals, a relatively large group of new members of fitness centers have been physically inactive or have had irregular levels of physical activity (Kirkegaard, 2009). Fitness center members have also been found to have more favorable health than non-members (Ready et al., 2005; Schroeder et al., 2017).

According to a Norwegian report by Breivik and Rafoss (2017), more women than men had exercised in a fitness center in Norway in 2015. As in other European countries, a high proportion of members in Norway had high levels of education and income. In addition, the proportion of the population using a fitness center seemed to decrease with increasing age, with 68% of the youngest age group (15–24 years) being members compared to 28% of the oldest age group (60 years or more) in 2015 (Breivik & Rafoss, 2017).



Picture from the 1980s at 3T (Photo: 3T)



Picture from the 2020s at 3T (Photo: 3T)

### 1.2.3 Motives for being a member of a fitness center

New members of fitness centers have said that they aim to make regular use of the center (Garon et al., 2015), achieve health-related benefits, improve their well-being (Macintosh & Law, 2015), and enhance their appearance (Mullen & Whaley, 2011).

A study conducted in Norway found that new members' motives for enrolling at a fitness center included increased physical fitness, a healthy body, feeling refreshed after exercising, feeling healthier, and avoiding poor health, as shown in Table 1 (Gjestvang et al., 2019). Another study in Norway found fitness to be the most essential motive for exercising at a fitness center, followed by enjoyment, competence, vitality, and appearance (Larsen et al., 2021). The social motive was rated the lowest for both genders; its importance first decreased with age but then increased beginning at 41 years (Larsen et al., 2021). However, there is a lack of knowledge on what long-term members aim to achieve with their fitness center memberships, because research has been limited to new members.

	n (%) <sup>b</sup>		n (%) <sup>b</sup>
To increase my physical fitness	116 (92.8)	Because it makes me feel good	67 (53.6)
To have a healthy body	83 (66.4)	To increase my endurance	63 (50.4)
Because after exercising I feel refreshed	81 (64.8)	To stay slim	59 (47.2)
To feel healthier	80 (64.0)	To lose weight	57 (45.6)
To avoid poor health	74 (59.2)	To develop my muscles	54 (43.2)
To look more attractive	73 (58.4)	To improve my appearance	52 (41.6)
To prevent health problems	69 (55.2)		

**Table 1.** Primary motives for fitness club membership and exercise among new members of fitness centers<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Source: Gjestvang et al. (2019)

<sup>b</sup> Data are presented as n (%)

# 1.2.4 Members' use of fitness centers

Although members of fitness centers intend to use the centers regularly (Garon et al., 2015), many only seldom use them (Middelkamp et al., 2016). Furthermore, a large proportion of members quit after a short period (Emeterio et al., 2019; Emeterio et al., 2020), thereby resulting in a high turnover rate among fitness center members in general (Emeterio et al., 2019; Emeterio et al., 2020; Middelkamp et al., 2016; Sperandei et al., 2019).

According to a European study involving former members of the largest fitness center chains in Europe (including both low-price and full-assortment centers), more than 50% of the sample did not visit the fitness center during their first month of membership, and 19.5% never attended the center during a 24-month period (Middelkamp et al., 2016). Visits in the first month were the highest at full-assortment centers, with 5.28 visits (SD 5.4) compared to 3.23 visits (SD 4.1) at low-price centers. The average number of visits among members of both types of centers was 3.63 visits in the first month for the entire 24-month period. In addition, most members stopped using the fitness center multiple times during the 24-month period, and only 2.3% used their center regularly (i.e., at least four visits per month) without relapsing (Middelkamp et al., 2016).

A Norwegian study of new but inactive members of fitness centers revealed no demographic or socioeconomic differences between members with high or low exercise frequency and members who had not visited their fitness centers during the 12-month study (Gjestvang et al., 2020). After 12 months of membership, 80% of the sample continued to be members; however, being a member for 12 months was not associated with increased levels of physical activity in general, nor with meeting the recommended weekly minimum of 150 minutes of moderate to vigorous physical activity (Gjestvang et al., 2020).

#### 1.3 Supporting new members to become long term users

As described above, despite new members' intention to actively use the fitness center, their number of visits is low: some members never start using the centers, and many terminate their memberships. Because more frequent use of a fitness center in the initial phase of membership is associated with more visits later on (Middelkamp et al., 2016; Kaushal & Rhodes, 2015; Rand et al., 2020) and with longer-lasting memberships (Emeterio et al., 2019; Emeterio et al., 2020), the question of how to support members in being more active users in this phase needs to be answered.

The services offered in a fitness facility can be numerous (Freitas & Silva Lacerda, 2019), and fitness centers typically offer several services that can impact members' use of their facilities, including activities, equipment, and staff (Ferrand et al., 2010). It is unsurprising that, faced with such variety, new members have reported several barriers to using fitness centers, including unfamiliarity with fitness center etiquette and a lack of basic knowledge about practical skills for exercising at a fitness center (Nikolajsen et al., 2021).

Behavioral issues are also at play, including the challenges of transitioning to a more physically active lifestyle. There are a range of theories on what goes on during this process (Rhodes et al., 2019). The health action approach (HAPA), as laid out by Schwarzer (2008), differentiates between motivational and volitional phases for behavior change, where the motivational phase, which concerns the startup phase, encompasses three factors: outcome expectancies (beliefs about the behavior will result in desired outcomes), action self-efficacy (belief in the ability to perform the behavior), and risk perceptions (beliefs regarding personal risk) (Schwarzer, 2008; Rhodes et al., 2019; Zhang et al., 2019). Furthermore, and according to the self-determination theory (SDT) internal motivation is a crucial point and posits among else needs for competence (feeling of mastery) to develop internal motivation for physical activity adoption and maintenance (Teixeira et al., 2012; Ryan & Deci, 2000, 2009, 2017). Also social support are by the sport commitment model (SCM) modeled to affect sports participation in the long term (Scanlan et al., 2009). Increased feeling of mastery, self-

21

efficacy and social support have also been found to be essential for regular use of fitness centers (Jekauc et al., 2015).

One concrete way to help new members at fitness centers increase their feeling of mastery and self-efficacy and provide some social support, is to increase their initial contact with staff. Member–staff interactions have been identified as essential to members' satisfaction at fitness centers, which in turn is associated with members' retention (Ferrand et al., 2010; Gonçalves & Diniz, 2015; León-Quismondo et al., 2020). Therefore, strengthening member–staff relations at fitness centers (Ferrand et al., 2010) and increasing the number of contact points between staff and members (Hurley, 2004) can potential be helpful to increase long term use.

However, it remains an open question as to how member–staff contact at fitness centers should be facilitated in the initial phase of membership, as does the question of what effect such contact has. Digital technologies (Lewis et al., 2017; Lupton, 2015) and telephone and email are cost-effective approaches to facilitating contact (Thomas & Bond, 2014), and they are also easy to implement with existing resources (Garrett et al., 2011) and can be scaled up to have a broader reach than in-person interaction (Foster et al., 2013; Goode et al., 2012). Among these options, talking on the telephone offers an advantage over digital technologies because it allows for the possibility for feedback and greater individualization (Foster et al., 2013); combined with other modalities, such as email and print, telephone conversations achieve effects similar to those of in-person interaction (Goode et al., 2012). Telephone and email seem to be promising approaches in other areas (Fischer et al., 2019; Goode et al., 2015; Goode et al., 2012; Vandelanotte et al., 2007). However, no studies using those technologies to support new fitness center members early in their memberships were identified in rather extensive searches performed in various databases (see the Appendix, "Search strategies 3 and 4").

# 1.4 Maintaining long-term use of fitness centers

The long-term use of fitness centers entails maintaining physical activity over time. However, physical activity maintenance (Kahlert, 2015; Seymour et al., 2010) and the long-term use of fitness centers are prone to relapse and, thus, the need exists to reactivate the members (Middelkamp et al., 2016). Although research have underscored that maintaining physical activity requires approaches different from ones needed to initiate physical activity (Stralen et al., 2009; Schwarzer, 2001), studies investigating factors influencing long-term fitness center use have been few and far between.

On the topic of maintaining physical activity, different theories and models to date have contributed relevant perspectives. For instance, the health action approach (HAPA) includes the processes of both pre-intentional motivation and post-intentional volition in relation to self-efficacy and planning (e.g., action and coping) as central factors of maintaining a behavior (Zhang et al., 2019). For another, as its name indicates, Nigg et al.'s. (2008) physical activity maintenance model focuses explicitly on maintaining a physically active lifestyle. The model highlights three psychosocial variables—goal setting (e.g., divided into satisfaction, attainment, and commitment), motivation (e.g., divided into self-motivation and expectations), and self-efficacy (e.g., divided into barriers and relapses)—and two contextual variables—environment and life stress (e.g., as relapse triggers). According to the model, the environment of physical activity and/or life stress can facilitate or impede the maintenance of physical activity either directly or indirectly through psychosocial variables (Nigg et al., 2008).

As modeled by both Nigg et al. (2008) and also Locke and Latham in the goal setting theory (2002, 2013), and shown in literature reviews, satisfaction with personal goal realization seem to be associated with physical activity maintenance (Bauman et al., 2012; Stralen et al., 2009). Swann et al. (2020) found that low goal achievement reduces participation in physical activity. Exercise frequency was found to be associated with the achievement of personal exercise goals among members of fitness centers in Denmark, where regular exercisers reported a higher degree of goal achievement than irregular ones (Kirkegaard, 2009). Thus, goal achievement seems to be a potentially important variable in physical activity maintenance and long-term use of fitness centers.

However, when searching for relevant research on the topic the search-results mostly included studies on academic achievement and achievement goals, with a lack of studies on the likely bidirectional association between the level of physical activity and goal achievement (see Appendix, Search strategy 5). As seen above, an experience of higher goal achievement can drive more exercise, and more exercise can drive a greater experience of goal achievement. Thus, studies that can start to disentangle this relationship are warranted.

### 1.5 Summary of knowledge gaps

As shown, although fitness centers are widely used for physical activity, research concerning long-term use of fitness centers has been rather limited.

To become long-term users of fitness centers, individuals first have to become members. Research has shown that the startup phase of membership is important in that members who initially demonstrate more intensive use continue to use the centers more frequently and over longer periods. However, studies on the effect of interventions aimed at new members are lacking, as are studies on how interventions in the startup phase affect long-term use.

The studies that have examined fitness center use over some time, usually within the first year after enrollment, have found that a sizable proportion of members terminate their memberships. Still, some stay on as long-term members and they might have had experiences that can be used to better understand long-term use. However, despite some qualitative and quantitative studies investigating why people remain members over time, no qualitative study has explored in depth what long-term members aim to achieve with their memberships or important factors driving their use of fitness centers in the long term.

Both theories and research indicate that achieving exercise goals is pivotal for maintaining physical activity over time. Thus, whether members of fitness centers experience goal achievement can be related to their long-term use. Even so, no studies have examined the prospective relationship between fitness center use and members' reported experiences of goal achievement.

24

# 2. Aim of the thesis

The overall aim of this thesis was to increase knowledge about long-term fitness center use. To do so, three studies with the following aims were conducted:

# Study I

To investigate if initial support given to new fitness center members via telephone and e-mail to use the fitness center facilities, compared to self-directed use, had an effect on booking with a fitness trainer free of extra charge, the number of visits to the center and membership duration during four years after enrollment.

# Study II

To explore what long-term members (> 2 years) wanted to achieve with their membership and to identify important factors that influenced them to use the fitness center as a means for physical activity.

# Study III

To investigate the prospective association between the use of fitness centers during 18 months and subsequent self-reported goal achievement among people who had been members at a fitness center for two years or more.

# 3. Methods

# 3.1 Study design

Qualitative and quantitative research methods were used to answer the aims of this thesis.

Study I was a randomized controlled trial performed in a real-life setting, with both the participants and the providers blinded. New members were randomized to receive an intervention during the startup phase of their membership, and their use of the fitness center for the following 4 years was recorded as registry data.

Study II was a qualitative study involving individual semistructured interviews conducted face-to-face using an interview guide with four key questions. Long-term members were invited to be interviewed at home, at work, or at the fitness center.

Study III was a registry- and survey-based longitudinal study. Long-term members were invited to answer a questionnaire. To be included, they had to consent to having their membership data on their previous use of fitness centers be linked to the survey data.

# 3.2 Setting

The research for this thesis was completed within the Research Council of Norway's Industrial Ph.D. program, which aims to support research in Norwegian companies of the same level of scientific merit as in general doctoral education. In the program, the doctoral work is funded half by a private company and half by the Research Council of Norway.

In the project, I was employed as a doctoral candidate by 3T-Fitness Center (3T). Therefore, the setting of all three studies presented in this thesis was the 3T-Fitness Centers in Trondheim, a city in Central Norway with approximately 205,000 inhabitants (190,000 at the time of data collection). With its first fitness center established in 1985, 3T is today the largest fitness center chain in Central Norway, with 16 fitness centers and approximately 40,000 members. The number of centers rose from eight to twelve in Trondheim during the data collection period for the three studies. To become members, individuals have to sign a 1-year contract, which commits them to being members for 12 months before the contract can be terminated. The fitness center chain offers various opportunities for exercise, with a primary workout area consisting of free weights, weight machines, rowing machines, stationary exercise bikes, elliptical trainers, and treadmills. In addition, nearly all of the centers offer group classes, personal trainers, a sauna, and a member lounge with simple café services. Some centers also provide squash courts, childcare, physiotherapy, a swimming pool, and a wellness area.

### 3.3 Study population

All participants were recruited from 3T centers in Trondheim.

#### 3.3.1 Study I

The study population consisted of all individuals ( $\geq 16$  years) who during one week in September 2014 signed up for a 12-month ordinary membership contract with continuous monthly automatic membership renewal thereafter. Individuals who enrolled in the same week, but with other contracts were not included. Such contracts included employee contracts, contracts whit shorter duration than 12 month and contracts without payment (some athletes or others who for various reasons received free membership for a period).

# 3.3.2 Study II

To ensure that participants were limited to long-term members, that is, to avoid members who terminated their membership after the obligatory 1-year contract, only adult ( $\geq$ 18 years) members who had been on an ordinary contract for  $\geq$ 2-year continuous at any of the eight 3T centers in Trondheim in 2015 were eligible. The study only included paying members and excluded employees and members with free membership contracts. To recruit participants, first a random sample of eligible members were identified from the membership registry and sent an invitation by e-mail.

28

Thereafter strategic selection was used to ensure a sample diverse in sex, age, frequency of visits, and types of services used. These members were identified in the member register by searching for younger members, and members with few visits or use of services such as personal trainer, physiotherapist, and / or nutrition supervisor. Employees at the fitness center was also asked if they knew about members with such characteristics.

#### 3.3.3 Study III

The inclusion criteria for participants in Study III were the same as in Study II, but at the time of recruitment in 2018, 3T had expanded to 12 fitness centers in Trondheim. All eligible participants were invited to participate via an e-mail invitation with a reminder after four days.

Given how often 3T sends advertising emails to members, both regarding its fitness center chains and its online store, it is possible that invited participants did not differentiate the invitation to participate from other emails from 3T and thus disregarded it. It is also possible that some received the email as spam and therefore were unaware that they had received it unless they actively accessed their spam box. Because many of the invited participants may not have seen the invitation for various reasons, 3T registered how many of the participants opened and did not open the email. That measure allowed excluding invitees who had not opened the invitation.

3.3.4 Overview of all relevant members in the fitness center chain To be able to compare participants in the studies to all members meeting the same eligibility criteria, data on these were collected. There were two main groups, new members and long-term members.

Regarding new members (Study I), 3T were asked in March 2022 if they could extract data from the member register for gender and age for all new members. Ideally, this should cover a longer period in 2014 as the recruitment in Study 1 took place in one week in September 2014. However, because 3T had changed their data system for the

membership register this was not possible. It was therefore decided to extract data on new members who enrolled throughout the month of September 2021.

For long term members (Study II and III which had the same eligibility criteria), due to the change of data system, data collected for and presented in the publication from Study II (Riseth et al., 2019), were used. This included gender, age, and number of days with visits for those who had been members continuously in the two-year period November 2014 to November 2016 (regardless of when they enrolled). Number of days of visits was registered over 18 months for Study III, i.e. six months shorter than the 24 months for the comparison group of all relevant members in the publication from Study II. For both groups, the number of visits was categorized into three groups (low, medium and high). However, the cut off used in the categorization differed somewhat. In study III the cut offs were set to have approximately 1/3 in each group, giving categories of 0-57 visits in low, 58-117 in medium and 118-543 in high. The cut offs for the comparison group were from 0-49 visits in low, 50-100 visits in medium and 100 or more visits in high. Due to the difference in length of registration and in categorization, it was expected a higher proportion in the low category for Study III.

# 3.4 The intervention in Study I

Developed by the head office of the fitness center chain 3T, the intervention in Study I consisted of two phone calls made 1–3 and 6–8 weeks after enrollment and one email sent 4 weeks after enrollment. Because the self-directed use of the fitness centers, along with possibilities for support upon request, is standard practice at 3T, the intervention's primary aim was to support members in using the fitness centers' facilities and services, including group activities and face-to-face support from fitness trainers.

Implementing the intervention involved several employees and multiple fitness centers. Fitness trainers made the phone calls to participants and used a template to guide the content, structure, and wording of the call. For each of the two scheduled calls, two attempts to reach the participants were made, and if they did not answer, then a voice message was left on their phone. The message informed the participants about the possibility of receiving guidance from fitness trainers and encouraged them to contact the fitness center if they had questions about using the center.

Four weeks after enrollment, the head office of the fitness center chain 3T sent an email to all participants with an email address in the membership register. Similar to the phone calls, the email contained information about the possibility of booking individual guidance with fitness trainers. Beyond that, the email informed participants about strength- and endurance programs and other popular activities at the fitness center, provided advice on reaching their physical activity goals, and gave them the opportunity to make direct contact with the fitness center, along with a link to frequently asked questions and motivational campaigns.

# 3.5 Data collection

Interviews, questionnaire-, and register data was used as data sources. Data generation for all three studies occurred between September 2014 and September 2018, as shown in Figure 2.



Figure 2. Timeline for data collection in Studies I-III

# 3.5.1 Registry data in Studies I and III

3T maintains a membership registry, the BRP Systems AB (BRP), which includes data for all fitness centers in the chain. The system provides not only their demographic information but also timestamps for each visit and bookings for fitness trainers, group activities, and events. Registry data used in Studies I and III were transferred from BRP to 3T in several steps to ensure privacy, and a de-identified data file with pseudonymized ID numbers was delivered to the first author. The variables used for Studies I and III are presented in Table 2.

Characteristic	Study I	Study III
ID number <sup>a</sup>	Х	Х
Sex	Х	Х
Age	Х	Х
Days with visits <sup>b</sup>	Х	Х
Fitness trainer bookings <sup>b</sup>	Х	Х
Group activity bookings <sup>b</sup>		Х
Membership terminations <sup>b</sup>	Х	

Table 2. Variables from the membership register, BRP, used in Studies I and III

<sup>a</sup> Pseudonymized ID numbers, with different ID numbers for Studies II and III

<sup>b</sup> Timestamps

#### 3.5.2 Interviews in Study II

The interviews followed a semi-structured interview guide addressing four key questions and topics to be introduced if the participant did not speak spontaneously about them (Table 3). The interviews were conducted by me and lasted from 32 to 62 min (average 48 min).

Table 3. Key questions and topics addressed in the interviews

Ke	ey questions
1)	Can you tell me about your experiences of being a member at the fitness center?
•	

- 2) What contributes to your use of the fitness center?
- 3) What do you want to achieve with the membership?
- 4) Is there anything the fitness center can do to make it easier for you to achieve what you want with the membership?

#### Topics to be introduced if the participant do not spontaneously talk about them

- Can you describe your physical activity behavior?
- What affects your use of the fitness center (facilities, opening hours, activities available, social interactions, family, friends, and support and presence of staff)?
- Reasons why you achieve/do not achieve what you want with the membership?

# 3.5.3 Survey questions in Study III

The dependent variable was measured with a question using a visual analog scale (VAS): "On a scale from 0 to 100, to what degree do you experience reaching your exercise goals at the fitness center?" (0 = to a very little extent, 100 = to a very large extent). The outcome variable was negatively skewed with a median (median = 71) greater than the mean (M = 68). Therefore, the outcome variable was log-transformed before using a linear regression analyses to compare mean differences. The outcome variable was also dichotomized into "high" and "low", with 80% of participants in the high group (i.e., scoring 51–100 on the VAS) and the other 20% in the low group (i.e., scoring 0–50 on the VAS), for use in the logistic regression analyses to calculate odds ratio.

The survey also included questions that provided descriptive information of the study population, this was sex (male or female), age in years (<20, 20-29, 30-39, 40-49, 50-59, 60-69 or  $\geq$ 70), highest completed level of education (compulsory, middle, and higher) and employment (full-time work, part-time work, student, or not working due to occupational rehabilitation, unemployment or being laid off, disability benefits, being retired or other).

#### 3.6 Data analyses

This section details the data analyses conducted in the three studies, as outlined in Table 4.

Characteristic	Study I	Study II	Study III
Systematic text condensation		Х	
Linear regression	Х		Х
Logistic regression	Х		Х
Kaplan–Meier	Х		
Cox regression	Х		

Table 4. Overview of the primary types of analyses used in Studies I-III

#### 3.6.1 Analyses in Study I

The statistical analyses in Study I were performed using Stata version 16 (StataCorp LLC, College Station, TX, USA) and conducted according to the intention to treat principle, with all participants randomized.

Mean differences in the number of days with visits between the groups were estimated using linear regression; odds ratios for having booked with a fitness trainer were estimated using logistic regression; and differences in membership duration were displayed as a Kaplan–Meier curve with the relative difference between the groups assessed as a hazard ratio (HR) using Cox regression. All models included adjustments for sex and age groups, and the precision of estimated effects was assessed using a 95% confidence interval (CI).

Additional analyses were performed to explore whether participants and characteristics of membership were associated with the duration of membership in the pooled sample, estimated as HRs with 95% CI using Cox regression. All models included adjustments, where age was adjusted for sex (woman, man), and fitness trainer and number of visits were adjusted for five age-groups and sex (woman, man).

#### 3.6.2 Analyses in Study II

The interview data in Study II were transcribed and analyzed using systematic text condensation (STC) (Malterud, 2012), which is inspired by Giorgi's psychological phenomenological method. STC involves a stepwise analysis with a four-step process, as illustrated in Figure 3.

Total in	pression	Identifying and sorting meaning units	Condensed description	Final theme and analytical text
Achieves pi mental hea	hysical and Ith benefits	"The important thing for me is that I manage to avoid another operation on my knee. Water gymnastics is good for me and I want to continue with this in the future." "Yes, I feel the positive effects exercise has for me, in relation to both energy and my mood. And my anxiety, it affects that a lot. I have had years where I only have been sitting indoors, without getting	Exercise is positive in relation to my health; it also leads to more energy and better mood.	Theme: Health benefits and physical appearance Analytical text: The fitness center was [] and to achieve desired health benefits.

Figure 3. The four analytical steps followed in Study II (Malterud, 2012)
In the first step of STC, the first author and coauthors read the transcripts for an overall impression and overview of the data. Data were approached with an open mind and with the participants' stories in focus. The authors then identified preliminary themes from the total impression of the data.

In the second step, meaning units (i.e., text segments) relevant to the study's aim were identified by the first author, after which they were coded and sorted into code groups based on the preliminary themes. MindManager software (Mindjet) was used to organize and visualize the data. The step was an iterative process in which the codes were adjusted several times.

In the third step, each code group was divided into three subgroups, after which the contents of the subgroups were summarized into condensed descriptions that were kept close to the participants' own words.

Last, in the fourth step, the condensed descriptions were rephrased into analytical text and final themes. The analysis was validated by checking the findings against the transcripts.

### 3.6.3 Analyses in Study III

The statistical analyses in Study III were performed using Stata version 17 (StataCorp LLC, College Station, TX, USA).

The association between registry data on the long-term (i.e., 18 months) use of fitness centers and subsequent self-reported goal achievement was investigated using linear regression to estimate differences in geometric means as the ratio of two means, as well as using logistic regression to estimate odds ratios for reporting low goal achievement. All analyses were adjusted for sex (male, female), age group (<30, 30-39, 40-49, 50-59, 60-69 and  $\geq$ 70 years), and higher education (i.e., yes or no). A 95% CI was used to assess the precision of all estimated effects.

# 3.7 Ethical considerations

The studies were conducted in compliance with the Declaration of Helsinki and submitted to the Regional Committee for Medical and Health Research Ethics in Central Norway (2014/1870 REK Central). REK Central assessed the study as not constituting health research and therefore not needing its approval. Study I did not need approval from the Norwegian Centre for Research Data (NSD), whereas Studies II and III were approved by the NSD (NSD 40604/3/SSA).

## 4. Results

This chapter presents the participants in the three studies and a summary of the primary results, all of which are described in detail in the three papers (Papers I–III).

# 4.1 Participants

All participants were recruited among members of the 3T fitness center chain in the period 2014 to 2018 (Table 5)

 
 Table 5. Year of recruitment, number of centers, membership numbers and number of eligible members and included participants for each study

Characteristics	Study I	Study II	Study III
Year of recruitment	2014	2015/2016	2018
Number of 3T centers in Trondheim <sup>a</sup>	8	9	12
Number of 3T centers in the chain <sup>b</sup>	11	12	16
Number of members at 3T (Trondheim) <sup>c</sup>	28181	30123	33570
Number of members at 3T (all centers in the chain) <sup>c</sup>	32742	34948	39493
Eligible members	356	d	15471
Included participants	356	21	2851

a. All centers in the Trondheim September 1th 2014 (Study I), March 1th 2015 (Study II) and June 1th 2018 (Study III)

b. All centers in the chain September 1th 2014 (Study I), March 1th 2015 (Study II) and June 1th 2018 (Study III)

c. The dates when the number of members where counted was September 1th 2014 (Study I), March 1th 2015 (Study II) and June 1th 2018 (Study III)

d. The exact number is not available due to change of membership register. It is likely to be in the area of 13500.

Figures 4-6 shows the flow chart of all three studies. In study 1, a total of 356 persons who enrolled as a new member in one week in 2014 met the inclusion criteria and 174 was randomized to the intervention group and 182 to the control group.



Figure 4. Flow chart Study I

In the last two studies, 21 (Study II) and 2851 (Study III) long-term members ( $\geq$ 2 years) participated. In study II, 16 were recruited among 24 persons randomly drawn from the members ship registry and 5 were recruited among the 8 strategically selected. In Study III, 11139 of the 15471 invited long-term members opened the invitation email and the included participants constituted 26% of those who opened the email.



Figure 5. Flow chart Study II

\* The exact number is not available due to change of membership register. It is likely to be in the area of 13500.



Figure 6. Flow chart Study III

## 4.1.1 Description of participants

In Study II, women and men were almost equally distributed with 53% being women, whereas more women (63% and 62%) than men (37% and 38%) were included in Studies I and III (Table 6). The age of most participants was 30-59 years (70%) in study III. The mean age was 43 years in Study II and approximately 30 years in Study I. The participants in Studies II and III were predominantly well-educated people who were either studying or working.

Characteristic	New members <sup>c</sup>		Long-term members <sup>d</sup>		
	Study I	Relevant 3T members in Trondheim	Study II	Study III	Relevant 3T members in the whole chain
Enrolment period (new	One week	One month	March	May 2018	November
members) or time of data	September	September	2015 to		2016 <sup>d</sup>
extraction (long-term members)	2014	2021	November 2016		
	(n = 354)	(n=1333)	(n = 21)	(n = 2851)	e
Sex					
- Woman	63%	57%	53%	62%	59%
- Man	37%	43%	47%	38%	41%
Age, in years					
- ≤29	66%	54%	29%	11%	26%
- 30–49	24%	26%	43%	46%	45%
$- \geq 50$	10%	20%	29%	45%	22%
Education <sup>a</sup>					
- Compulsory	-		5%	1%	
- Middle	-		24%	21%	
- Higher	-		71%	78%	
Employment					
- Full time work	-		43%	74%	
- Part time work	-		19%	7%	
- Student	-		24%	3%	
- Not working <sup>b</sup>	-		14%	15%	
- Other	-		-	1%	
Number of days visited <sup>c</sup>					
- Low			43%	35%	44%
- Medium			38%	32%	24%
- High			19%	33%	32%

Table 6. Characteristics of participant's in Studies I–III and of relevant members in the fitness center chain where the participants were recruited from

a. Education: Compulsory=primary school and middle school graduation or lower, Middle= high school graduation (duration 1–2 years), high school graduation (duration 3 years) and certificate of apprenticeship (duration 4 years), Higher=college/university graduation

b. Not working: in occupational rehabilitation, unemployed or laid off, on disability benefits, or retired

c. Days with visits was categorized in low, medium and high:

- Low: Study III 0-57 visits, Study II and the relevant members 0-49 visits

- Medium: Study III 58-117 visits, Study II and the relevant members 50-100 visits

- High: Study III 118-543 visits, Study II and the relevant members ≥100 visits

d. The distribution of the characteristics of members are taken from Study II (Riseth et al., 2019)

e. The exact number is not available due to change of membership register. It is likely to be in the area of 14600, which is slightly higher than the approximate number of eligible members in Study II (Table 5) due to covering the whole chain.

#### 4.1.2 Comparison of study participants with members at 3T

To investigate whether the study samples were representative of all members in 3T using the same eligibility criteria, Table 6 also provides data on the characteristics of relevant members of the 3T chain.

For gender, all the study samples were relatively similar to all relevant members in 3T with approximately 60% women and 40% men. When it comes to age, there were some differences (Table 6). According to 3T, the pandemic still affected the enrollments in September 2021 with more younger and fewer adult individuals. Even so, the new members in Study I was somewhat younger than new members enrolling in September 2021. The long term members Study III where older than the comparison group.

There were also differences in number of days with visits for the long term members in Study III compared to the comparison group. Although there were differences in length of registration and the cut off used for categorization (see section 3.3.4), the participants in Study III visited the fitness center on more days.

# 4.2 Study I: Effect of initial support on the use of fitness centers among new members

Study I investigated whether initial support to use the fitness center facilities given to new members of fitness centers via telephone and email, compared with self-directed use, affected bookings with a fitness trainer free of charge, the number of visits to the center, and the duration of membership for 4 years after enrollment.

The data collected to monitor the implementation of the intervention showed that not all participants were reached as planned (Table 7).

Intervention	Reach in the intervention group
First phone call	127 out of the 174 (73%) participants
Second phone call	119 out of the 174 (68%) participants
E-mail	Sent to the 158 (91%) participants with an e-mail address registered at
	the fitness center, where 93 chose to open the e-mail.

Although initial support was associated with increased fitness trainer bookings, it did not influence days with visits or the proportion of members terminating their membership during the 4-year follow-up period. Moreover, Study I revealed factors associated with duration of membership during the 4-year period, including positive associations with duration for members older than 25 years and more than 2 visits per month in the first 6 months. Fitness trainer bookings and sex were not associated with duration of membership.

## 4.3 Study I: Long-term members' use of fitness centers

Study II explored what long-term members (i.e.,  $\geq 2$  years) wanted to achieve with their fitness center memberships and identified important factors of their use of the centers as a means for physical activity. Above all, long-term members wanted to achieve health benefits with their membership. Although not as pronounced, appearance-related reasons were also a crucial factor of being a member of a fitness center. The members primarily described their use of fitness centers as positive and the centers as being easily accessible, offering a comfortable place for physical activity, and providing a feeling of increased safety compared with outdoor activities. Variation in activities, personal commitments made, and receiving support from staff and other members were other factors acknowledged as being positive for the use of fitness centers. However, even though the activities were experienced as being enjoyable and using certain facilities helped them overcome some of their barriers, some members experienced difficulties with using their fitness centers as much as they wanted.

# 4.4 Study III: The use of fitness centers in relation to the subsequent achievement of exercise goals

Study III investigated the association between members' registry-derived long-term (i.e., 18-month) use of fitness centers and their subsequent self-reported goal achievement. Positive associations between the use of fitness centers and self-reported goal achievement were found for days with visits, the number of group activity bookings, and visiting the fitness center at least once every third month. The number of bookings with a fitness trainer was not consistently associated with goal achievement.

# 5. Methodological considerations

This chapter presents some considerations of the research methods used in the three studies in this thesis to elaborate upon the methodological discussions in the papers. There are many pitfalls in scientific research that can threaten the validity of studies, and although quantitative methods involve counts and qualitative methods involve narratives, similar considerations of validity need to be made for both types (Malterud, 2001; Portney & Watkins, 2009).

#### 5.1 Reflexivity

Reflexivity can be understood as the effect of the researcher on the research and should be thoroughly considered and mitigated by the researcher and the research team (Malterud, 2001). Although the term reflexivity is a term primarily used in relation to qualitative methods (Malterud, 2001), I experience it is at least as essential in quantitative methods.

I started the work with this thesis as an industrial doctoral candidate employed in the administration of 3T. I thus had extensive experience-based knowledge from the fitness center industry after having worked in different roles in the company for 12 years. I have also worked in public health in two municipalities for 6 years. My motivation for the doctoral work was to explore the members of fitness centers who go on to become long-term members and to learn more about what characterizes their use and what drive them to continue using fitness centers.

From the very beginning of the project, I expected and considered that my preconceptions could influence the work for this thesis. My chief preconception when starting the work was that many long-term members of fitness centers want to achieve goals related to their appearance (e.g., weight loss) but struggle to achieve them, despite visiting the fitness center quite regularly. I thought this because appearance-related goals such as weight loss are demanding to achieve and maintain and are also related to

the members' diets. I also assumed that the use of the fitness centers would vary across members and that many new members felt unsecure around how to get started in using the fitness center. Drawing on my experience working in 3T, I believed that the initial support offered in the RCT could help new members feel more confident about using their fitness centers for physical activity and thus stimulate their earlier use, which I expected would increase their use and extend their membership periods.

To ensure reflexivity in my work and to make sure that my preconceptions did not unconsciously lead me to find what suited my beliefs or what I might have set out to find, I continuously presented the work to others, including my supervisors, the coauthors of the three papers, other researchers and practitioners, and the Patient Education and Participation Research Group at the Norwegian University of Science and Technology (NTNU).

Although I remained aware of my preconceptions and knew that fitness centers are used by many people, I was surprised by the strong opinions of others commenting on the work. Consequently, I also had to face other people's preconceptions. This both challenged my own preconceptions and led to deep and broad discussions of my work, which was valuable input to the three studies in this thesis.

#### 5.2 Transferability

The transferability, or generalizability, of a study's findings indicates how well they can provide meaning beyond the study's context (Malterud, 2001). If the findings can be applied to or give meaning for only a narrow population or a specific setting, they have poor transferability (Malterud, 2001; Rothwell, 2005).

One central aspect when considering transferability is whether there is selection bias. Selection bias concerns whether the sample in a study is representative of the relevant population (Graham, 2009). If there were no selection bias in the studies in this thesis, the participants would be similar to all members who met the same eligibility criteria. Therefore, such data was collected and the data are presented in the result section (Table 6).

Study II was a qualitative study, where it is common to do what is called strategic or purposeful sampling. This means that the selection of participants based on the researchers' judgement about which potential participants that will be most informative. The selection process in Study II, which was both random and strategic, aimed to ensure diversity in the sample in terms of experiences and the aim was thus not to have a sample that was equal to all eligible members when it comes to characteristics like gender, age, frequency of visits and services used. Still, it is relevant to make comparisons as large deviations between the sample and the study population are not intended. Even though the sample in Study II included only two participants around 20 years and the rest in the age group of 20-29 years were 27 years or older, the characteristics of the long-term members in Study II seem to fit well with gender, age, and visits of all similar long-term members at the fitness center chain in November 2016 (Table 6).

For study I and III, which where quantitative, the aim was to get a sample that was representative in terms of proportions with the same characteristics. As described in the result section, the inclusion of approximately 60% women and 40% men in these studies were in line with the sex distribution at 3T, and it also aligns with what is found in Europe, where more women than men report a health or fitness center membership (European Commission, 2018).

There were however some differences in the age between the participants in studies I and III compared to similar members at 3T. The participants in Study I (new members) were somewhat younger, and as all eligible new members in the week 2014 was included, it does not influence the results, but it points to possible changes in the characteristics of new members. Those in Study III (long term members) were clearly older than the similar members at 3T. Other studies reporting on member characteristics have not used the same eligibility criteria as in Study III and a comparison can thus only be made with studies reporting on members in general. In Study III the proportion

younger than 30 years were 11% while in another Norwegian study including members with more than six months membership 52% were younger than 31 years (Larsen et al., 2021). Compared to the situation in Europe where 10% of all who reported a health or fitness center membership were older than 55 years (European Commission, 2018), 45% were older than 50 years in Study III. Thus, although it can be expected that the participants in Study III is somewhat older due to the eligibility criterium of having been member for two years or longer, the participants in Study III still seem to include more older members than the distribution in fitness centers in general.

The participants in studies II and III were predominantly well-educated people who worked full-time. Similarly, other studies have also shown higher participation among individuals with higher social status and better health (Enzenbach, 2019; Nohr & Liew, 2018).

The data on number of visits showed that the participants in Study III were more highfrequent users compared to similar users at 3T. As those with more visits scored higher on goal achievement, this association could be inflated as a consequence.

In summary, the main challenge with selection bias concerns Study III. The likely reason is that one out five of all potential eligible members chose to participate. When there is low proportion responding and clear indications of selection bias, the questions becomes how the sample differs from the eligible population. This can be answered as done above for the variables that there are data on and measures like adjustments in multivariable analysis conducted. However, for characteristics where data is not collected, no answer can be given. Examples of variables that could be of interest are social and health status as it has been shown in previous studies that participation are associated with higher social status and better health than non-participation (Enzenbach, 2019; Nohr & Liew, 2018). Still, given that it is likely that the participants in study III were older, had a large proportion with higher education and who visited the center more frequently, caution must be made when applying the findings to other settings.

But also other factors needs to be considered when assessing the transferability of the results of a study. The studies included in this thesis were conducted in a real-life setting but included only members of one fitness center chain, which places some limitations on their generalizability to centers with a different profile and especially to those that are not full-assortment centers. The cost of a membership at the 3T centers at the time of the studies was 350–550 NOK (approx. 40–60 EUR) per month, which was similar to the cost at other full-assortment centers in the city. The exercise opportunities available at 3T fitness centers were also similar to other full-assortment centers, which account for 74% of all fitness centers in Norway (Virke Trening, 2013).

The fact that the findings in the three studies align with findings from other research (Macintosh & Law, 2015; Middelkamp et al., 2016; Nikolajsen et al., 2021) strengthens their transferability to similar settings.

## 5.4 Study designs

Given the aims in this thesis, different study designs were needed. Having research questions that required different research methods is a strength, in that long-term fitness center use could be investigated from different perspectives.

Choosing an RCT to answer a research question about effect was an obvious choice, as RCTs are known for minimizing potential biases and having high internal validity (Spieth et al., 2016). Using a design with a registry-based RCT enabled a doubleblinded investigation of the intervention in the real-world setting of the fitness center. However, a challenge of the study design in our RCT was involving several employees and multiple fitness centers in implementing the intervention, increasing the possibility of misinformation and misunderstanding, which could then influence how the intervention was delivered. One consequence was a lack of reporting on the total number of participants in the intervention group who received all, part, or none of the intervention. Although the blinding was a strength, it also meant that the participants' experiences were not collected as outcomes. Such information could have extended the

registry-derived information and given information about the participants experiences with the intervention, and use of the fitness center.

Although the blinding in Study I was a strength, it also meant that the participants' experiences were not collected as outcomes. Such information could have extended the registry-derived information and given information about the participants experiences with the intervention, and use of the fitness center.

Study II was designed to explore in depth the experiences of long-term members. Therefore, qualitative, semi-structured, face-to-face individual interviews were identified as the best-suited research method. The individual interviews enabled each participant to speak freely and enabled me, as the interviewer, to dig deeper into each of their stories without limiting the discussion to superficial narratives. Group interviews could have provided additional variety, as the group's dynamic can point participants in new directions and thus yield other reflections (Malterud, 2011).

The registry- and survey-based prospective study design in Study III was chosen to enable distinguishing measures of fitness center use from members' assessments of their self-reported goal achievement over time. However, the possibility for reverse causation, in which the member's goal achievement at the study's initiation might have promoted their use of the fitness center instead of the other way around, cannot be ruled out.

# 5.5 Data sources and data collection

#### 5.5.1 Registry data in Studies I and III

The registry data in Studies I and III were collected from the membership registry, which includes data for all members of the fitness center chain. To visit a center at 3T, members have to swipe their membership card, which creates an electronic timestamp in the registry for each visit. The same holds true for booking through the system to join a group activity or receive help and instructions from a fitness trainer.

The system records each swipe of the membership card; thus, if a member passes the entrance several times during the same visit (e.g., to get something from their car), this is recorded as multiple visits. Therefore, we used the measure' days with visits', as this was judged to be a better representation of actual visits, even though this excluded situations where a member had several distinct visits on the same day. Furthermore, although 3T has strict procedures for registering all visits and activities in the system, it is possible for employees to admit members without registering them through the system. Thus, the possibility of missing values is present but considered negligible.

#### 5.5.2 Semi-structured individual interviews in Study II

The validity of the data used in Study II was dependent on the quality of the interviews. In an interview, the interviewer is the research instrument. My previous experience as an interviewer was in my master thesis, so I had some experience. I followed an interview guide which helped keep focus during the interviews. In addition, my main supervisor who is experienced in and teaches qualitative methods, listened to parts of the initial interviews to assess their quality and to guide me for the next interviews. To ensure the quality of the interviews, it was focused on getting the participants' to speak freely and spontaneously to get variation in experiences. It was also a focus not to ask leading questions, keep the questions short, but still manage to get the participants to dig deeper into their stories and experiences.

Before the interviews, I gave the participants information about my employment at 3T, explained that what was said in the interview was confidential, and assured them that the results were to be used for research and not by 3T. Still, my employment status may have influenced what the participants brought up, and they might have spoken more freely and answered differently with an interviewer who was independent of 3T. However, reviewing the transcripts showed that the participants seemed to speak freely and without reservation about the fitness center and about how they used it for physical activity. An advantage of my in-depth knowledge of 3T was that it made it easier to ask relevant questions to dig deeper into the participants' stories and experiences.

## 5.5.3 Questionnaire data in Study III

The outcome variable in Study III was expected to measure whether the participants perceived that they had reached their exercise goals at the fitness centers. Although the achievement of goals has been measured in terms of steps taken daily (Chevance, 2021; Moon, 2016) and minutes of physical activity per week (Conroy, 2011), such measures exclude the achievement of other goals thought to be relevant to participants. Thus, the chosen outcome variable aimed to measure a more overall perception of goal achievement.

A limitation was that there was no formal testing of its reliability or validity in advance. Nevertheless, the variable was developed based on a question about goal achievement used in research on satisfaction with fitness centers—namely, whether participants have achieved all that they hoped to achieve at the centers (Gonçalves et al., 2016).

To assess the participants' perceived level of goal achievement, a continuous 0–100 visual analog scale (VAS) was chosen (Brokelman et al., 2012). The advantage of a VAS is that respondents can choose more precisely, differentiated values (Funke & Reips, 2012). Kuhlmann (2016) has also observed less dropout from studies conducted online when using VASs. An alternative was to use a Likert scale, but the results between VAS and Likert scales seem to correlate (Hasson & Arnetz, 2005; Kuhlmann et al., 2017), and both types pose certain advantages and disadvantages for participants (Hasson & Arnetz, 2005). Furthermore, although dichotomizing the VAS scores into low and high arguably negated the advantages of using the VAS in the first place, it remained a good choice because it was also used as a continuous variable to compare the mean goal achievement.

Some of the participants who did not visit the fitness center at all during the 18-month study period nevertheless reported 50 or higher on the 0–100 VAS. Reasons could be a general satisfaction with the fitness center as an arena for physical activity despite lack of use in the past 18 months and therefore reporting on the achievement of personal exercise goals to some extent. Another explanation is that they were satisfied with their

total activity and did not differentiate activity at the fitness centers from activity elsewhere.

#### 5.6 Data analyses

#### 5.6.1 Statistical analyses in Study I

The analyses in Study I included all participants initially randomized to the intervention group or control group, and it used the intention to treat (ITT) principle. The use of registry data from the membership registry ensured that outcome measures were available for all participants and provided complete follow-up. The variation in the number of visits was larger than expected and resulted in imprecise estimates of differences between the groups.

We used survival analyses to measure differences in membership duration. Time to membership termination was displayed using a Kaplan-Meier curve, and hazard ratio (HR) using Cox regression was used to measure the relative difference between the groups. These are commonly used analyses and were considered to be valid choices in this study.

#### 5.6.2 Text analyses in Study II

STC by Malterud (Malterud, 2011) was chosen as the analytical method for the qualitative interviews in Study II. The STC method, inspired by Giorgi's psychological phenomenological method, was chosen because it is well-suited to explore participants' experiences instead of underlying opinions of what was told. As an analytical method, STC is also easy for novice researchers to interpret, given its iterative four-step process (Malterud, 2012). Due to my limited experience with qualitative methods prior to this study, I considered STC to be a good choice that ensured the quality of the analysis (Malterud, 2012).

The data analysis was conducted in parallel with the data collection, which ensured that findings in the early analysis could be investigated further in later interviews. The analysis was carried out in cooperation with the co-authors and discussed twice in the Patient Education and Participation Research Group at NTNU.

### 5.6.3 Statistical analyses in Study III

Most datasets have missing values that can weaken the estimates of the parameters (Mehmetoglu & Jakobsen, 2017). However, in Study III, the use of registry data from the membership registry ensured that outcome variables for fitness center use were available for all participants, with minimal probability of missing data. Furthermore, in the electronic survey, all participants had to answer the question addressing the outcome variable in order to submit the questionnaire, which ensured that no data were missing for that variable.

Linear and logistic regression analyses were conducted to investigate the association between the use of the fitness center and subsequent self-reported goal achievement. The choice to use both methods was considered as good for providing both continuous output (using the whole VAS scale) and discrete output (measuring low or high goal achievement).

# 6. Discussion of main findings

# 6.1 Summary of findings

Study I showed that the initial support influenced fitness trainer bookings but not the number of days with a visit or membership duration during four years. It was also observed that a sizable proportion paid the center few visits and approximately 60% and 80% had terminated their membership after two and four years, respectively. Being older than 40 years and going to the center two or more days each month within the first six months were prospectively associated with longer membership duration. In Study II, the members said that health and appearance were the main reasons for their long-term use of the fitness center. Although using the fitness center was positively perceived, some members found it challenging to visit the center as much as they wanted. Study III found that members who had a greater number of days with a visit and group activity bookings, along with those who visited regularly during the previous 18 months, reported higher subsequent goal achievement. The number of bookings with a fitness trainer was not consistently associated with goal achievement.



Picture from 3T (Photo: 3T)

## 6.2 Low use and high numbers of membership termination

Responding to a registry- and survey-based study, new members from 14 clubs in Canada, answered that they intended to use the fitness center regularly when enrolling, estimating three or more visits a week (Garon et al., 2015). However, the actual number of visits they paid to the center was one-and-a-half per week (Garon et al., 2015), showing a discrepancy between members' intentions and their actual behavior in the startup phase. The numbers observed in the study by Garon et al. (2015) were similar to the number of visits observed in Study I, where an average of about 18 visits were made during the first three months. However, this average covers a large variation, as the members' number of days with visits over the first three membership months ranged from 0 to once every day (56 visits). A large proportion of new members at fitness centers also chose to terminate their membership during the first year in a registry study from Spain including 14522 members (Emeterio et al., 2019). In Study I, there were no terminations in the first year due to the 12-month obligatory contract, which subsequently ran until the member terminated it. However, in the following year, which had no binding contract, about 60% also ended their membership in this study, and 78% had terminated their membership by the end of the four-year study period (Study I).

According to a recent review, the reasons for this might be several barriers for the use of a fitness center (Nikolajsen et al., 2021). Thus, overcoming those barriers are found to be essential for the regular use of fitness centers in a registry- and survey-based study including 101 college students (Jekauc et al., 2015).

#### 6.3 Supporting new members

Garon et al. in Canada (2015) and a registry study including about 1700 new members from a UK city by Rand et al. (2020) found that members' exercise behavior early in their membership is related to later use. Members early exercise behavior are also associated with exercise habits (Kaushal & Rhodes, 2015), and membership duration (Emeterio et al., 2019; Emeterio et al., 2020). This was in line with the findings in Study I, where at least two visits per month during the first six months were associated with a longer membership duration. This indicates that the member start-up phase is significant for membership duration.

Despite this knowledge, interventions to investigate the effects of what fitness centers do to support new members to use their services are lacking. Study I, which examines the effect of initial support via telephone and e-mail to new members, is the first study to be conducted in this area. The intention of the intervention was to help new members become active users of the fitness center from the start. The intervention had an effect on the number of members with a fitness trainer booking but no effect on frequency of days with visits or membership duration. Using telephone and e-mail as a method for support has been investigated in other settings with different content, contact points, and duration than in the present study (Fischer et al., 2019; Goode et al., 2012; Habla & Muller, 2021; Vandelanotte et al., 2007). Thus, previous findings are not directly comparable to Study I. However, as some of these studies found an effect, and the use of telephone and e-mail is a common way to contact members, more research utilizing these communication channels in the start-up phase is warranted.

## 6.4 What characterizes long-term fitness center use?

Although many members terminate their memberships early on (Emeterio et al., 2019; Emeterio et al., 2020), there is still a group that goes on to become long-term members. In this thesis, long-term members are defined as those who continue for two consecutive years or more. In Study I, it was observed that 40% continued their membership after two years. Of these long-term members, one-sixth continued for at least four years (Study I). This means that a fairly large proportion continues membership for a longer period. According to a Norwegian report, about 30% of Norwegian adults use a fitness center for physical activity (Open et al., 2019).

Even though a large portion of the adult population report to be members of fitness centers (European Commission, 2018), and fitness centers are acknowledged for stimulating lifelong physical activity participation (The Ministry of Health and Care Services (HOD), 2015; World Health Organization, 2018), the proportion of members is

reduced with increasing age. Only 10% of the European population older than 55 report a fitness center membership (European Commission, 2018). In Study I which included all new members during one month, only 3% was 60 years or older. However, once enrolled, older members continue longer as members compared to younger age groups (Rand et al., 2020), a result also found in Study I. Studies have shown that fear of falling, inertia, negative affect, physical ailments (Lees et al., 2005), and lack of company, interest, and opportunities (Moschny et al., 2011) are barriers to participating in physical activity for older adults. Designing exercise programs especially for older adults (Mathews et al., 2010), with activities that aim to maintain or increase their flexibility and strengthen muscles and balance to reduce the risk of falls (Nelson et al., 2007) might also be a solution for fitness centers to attract more of the older adults to get started.

Study III found a large variation in the number of days with visits among the long-term members during the 18-month study period, ranging from zero days to about once a day (543 days), with an average of 97 visits (5.4 per month). In a registry study from Portugal, the average number of weekly visits among fitness center members was almost one visit a week (Sobreiro et al., 2021). A study from two European fitness center chains on former fitness center members found that they averaged 1.1 visits a month. Most of the former members also stopped using the fitness centers multiple times during the 24-month period, with only 2.3% using it regularly (i.e., at least four visits per month) without relapsing (Middelkamp et al., 2016). Among the long-term members in Study III, almost 75% visited the fitness center at least once every third month during the whole period. Still, even if long-term members use the fitness centers as their main arena for physical activity, on average they may not be reaching the Norwegian recommended levels of at least 150–300 minutes weekly of moderate to vigorous physical activity (The Norwegian Directorate of Health, 2021).



Picture from 3T (Photo: 3T)

In accordance with another Norwegian cross-sectional fitness center study (Gjestvang et al., 2019), the long-term members in Study II told that their goals in having fitness center memberships included achieving health- and appearance-related benefits, preventing the deterioration of their health, and supporting pain management.

Study III was undertaken to investigate long-term members' fitness center use and its association with their goal achievement. Previous research has also found an association between physical activity maintenance and goal achievement (Bauman et al., 2012; Stralen et al., 2009). However, as noted earlier, the association might be bidirectional, where the experience of higher goal achievement can drive more fitness center use, and more fitness center use can drive a higher experience of goal achievement. Nevertheless, long-term fitness center use is an important variable for members' goal achievement.

#### 6.5 Influencing factors for long-term fitness center use

A factor related to long-term fitness center use is enjoyment (Kopp et al., 2020). Kopp et.al. found in their longitudinal prospective study from Germany that continuous and regular fitness center use was more likely among individuals who reported to enjoy using the fitness center and consider it to be personally meaningful (Kopp et al., 2020). Similar connections where also reported by the participants in the Norwegian survey by Gjestvang et al. (2019) and in Study II. Some long-term members discussed how enjoyment helped them commit and be motivated to continue to use the fitness center (Study II). Enjoyment are also a central factor in the Sport Commitment Model (SCM), where it is conceived to increase commitment to the activity (Scanlan et al., 1993; Scanlan et al., 2016).

According to the Physical Activity Maintenance (PAM) theory, one's physical activity environment and stress in life are contextual influences that can facilitate or impede the maintenance of physical activity (Nigg et al., 2008). This can be either direct or indirect via the psychosocial variables of goal setting, motivation, and self-efficacy (Nigg et al., 2008). Life stressors, according to Nigg et al. (2008), can impact physical activity maintenance negatively because they increase the vulnerability for relapse, decrease motivation, and undermine the setting of and achievement of long-term goals. One example is time constraints and lack of childcare which can be significant stressinducing factors that affect a parent's ability to use fitness centers, as reported by some participants in Study II. In fact, one participant in another interview study said that it would be impossible to exercise without access to daycare or youth fitness activities at their center: "It gives me a window of time" (Macintosh & Law, 2015).

In addition, skills and strategies that prevent relapse into inactivity are essential for sustained participation in physical activity (Schwarzer, 2001). The Health Action Process Approach (HAPA), address action (where, when and how) and coping (appropriate strategies to handle barriers) planning as important to maintain the behavior and recover from relapse (Rhodes et al., 2019; Zhang et al., 2019). The longterm members in Study II used commitments such as making appointments with others, prebooked activities, or payment of no-show fees as strategies to overcome challenges regarding low motivation and energy to use the fitness center (Study II). Commitments are also highlighted as significant for maintaining physical activity by The Sport Commitment Model (SCM) (Gabriele et al., 2011; Scanlan et al., 1993, 2009, 2013, 2016).

# 7. Conclusions

Based on the findings in this thesis and previous research, it can be concluded that a need exists both for fresh approaches to encourage new members to use the fitness center and for research on the effect of these interventions. Furthermore, to increase the proportion of long-term members that experience high goal achievement, supporting them to increase both their frequency and regularity of use seems to be worthwhile efforts. Such efforts could include helping them overcoming barriers like variations in activities, making commitments, and getting support from the staff.

# 8. Implications for future research and practice

As a large part of the population are members of fitness centers, what happens there can affect the level of physical activity in a large part of the population and, consequently, public health. The fitness centers' role in stimulating lifelong physical activity is acknowledged by the WHO and in a white paper issued by the Norwegian government (The Ministry of Health and Care Services (HOD), 2015; World Health Organization, 2018). Yet, despite these acknowledgments and the growth of the fitness industry, there has been little scientific research attention on fitness centers as an arena for physical activity.

Based on the work with this thesis, it can be suggested that both future research and practice should explore new practices to support new and existing members to establish regular and continuous fitness center use and investigate the effect of these efforts. The need also exists for research to further investigate the effects of the use of telephone and e-mail to support new members of a fitness center in the start-up phase and assess goal achievement both before and after measuring fitness center use.

# References

- Bauman, A. E., Reis, R. S., Sallis, J. F., Wells, J. C., Loos, R.J., and Martin, B.W. (2012). Correlates of physical activity: why are some people physically active and others not? *Lancet*, 380(9838), 258-271. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(12)60735-1
- Bratland-Sanda, S., Myhre, T., & Tangen, J. O. (2020). Norwegian Fitness Industry: From Bodybuilding to a Public Health Partner. In J. Scheerder, H. Vehmas, & K. Helsen (Eds.), *The Rise and Size of the Fitness Industry in Europe. Fit for the Future*? (pp. 327-347). Palgrave Macmillan. doi:10.1007/978-3-030-53348-9\_15
- Breivik, G., & Rafoss, K. (2017). Fysisk aktivitet; omfang, tilrettelegging og sosial ulikhet. Oslo/Alta: Helsedirektoratet (The Norwegian Directorate of Health). ISBN 978-82-8081-493-7
- Brokelman, R. B., Haverkamp, D., van Loon, C., Hol, A., van Kampen, A., & Veth, R. (2012). The validation of the visual analogue scale for patient satisfaction after total hip arthroplasty. *Eur Orthop Traumatol*, 3(2), 101-105. doi:10.1007/s12570-012-0100-3
- Chevance, G., Baretta, D., Golaszewski, N., Takemoto, M., Shrestha, S., Jain, S., Rivera, D. E., Klasnja, P., & Hekler, E. (2021). Goal setting and achievement for walking: A series of N-of-1 digital interventions. *Health Psychol*, 40(1), 30-39. doi:10.1037/hea0001044
- Conroy, M. B., Yang, K., Elci, O. U., Gabriel, K. P., Styn, M. A., Wang, J., Kriska, A. M., Sereika, S. M., & Burke, L. E. (2011). Physical activity self-monitoring and weight loss: 6-month results of the SMART trial. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 43(8), 1568-1574. doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e31820b9395
- Ekelund, U., Steene-Johannessen, J., Brown, W. J., Fagerland, M. W., Owen, N., Powell, K. E., Bauman, A., & Lee, I. M. (2016). Does physical activity attenuate, or even eliminate, the detrimental association of sitting time with mortality? A harmonised meta-analysis of data from more than 1 million men and women. *Lancet*, 388(10051), 1302-1310. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(16)30370-1
- Emeterio, I. C. S., García-Unanue, J., Iglesias-Soler, E., Felipe, J. L., & Gallardo, L. (2019). Prediction of abandonment in Spanish fitness centres. *Eur J Sport Sci.*, 19(2), 217-224. doi:10.1080/17461391.2018.1510036
- Emeterio, I. C. S., García-Unanue, J., Iglesias-Soler, E., Gallardo, L., & Felipe, J. L. (2020). Drop out prediction in sport centres Definition of models and reproducibility. *Retos*, (37), 54-61. doi: 10.47197/retos.v37i37.71423

- Enzenbach, C., Wicklein, B., Wirkner, K., & Loeffler, M. (2019). Evaluating selection bias in a population-based cohort study with low baseline participation: the LIFE-Adult-Study. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 19(1), 135. doi: 10.1186/s12874-019-0779-8
- European Commission., & TNS Opinion & Social (2018). Special Eurobarometer 472 -December 2017 "Sport and Physical activity" Report (2018.1460). doi:10.2766/483047
- Ferrand, A., Robinson, L., & Valette-Florence, P. (2010). The Intention-to-Repurchase Paradox: A Case of the Health and Fitness Industry. J. Appl. Sport Manag., 24. doi:10.1123/jsm.24.1.83
- Fischer, X., Kreppke, J.-N., Zahner, L., Gerber, M., Faude, O., & Donath, L. (2019). Telephone-Based Coaching and Prompting for Physical Activity: Short- and Long-Term Findings of a Randomized Controlled Trial (Movingcall). *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health*, 16(14). doi:10.3390/ijerph16142626
- Foster, C., Richards, J., Thorogood, M., & Hillsdon, M. (2013). Remote and web 2.0 interventions for promoting physical activity (Review). *Cochrane Database Syst. Rev.*, CD010395.(9). doi:10.1002/14651858.CD010395.pub2
- Freitas, A. L., & Silva Lacerda, T. (2019). Fitness centers: What are the most important attributes in this sector? *Int. J. Qual. Res.*, 13, 177-192. doi:10.24874/IJQR13.01-11
- Funke, F., & Reips, U.-D. (2012). Why Semantic Differentials in Web-Based Research Should Be Made from Visual Analogue Scales and Not from 5-Point Scales. *Field Methods*, 24(3), 310-327. doi: 10.1177/1525822x12444061
- Gabriele, J. M., Gill, D. L., & Adams, C. E. (2011). The roles of want to commitment and have to commitment in explaining physical activity behavior. *J Phys Act Health*, 8(3), 420-428. doi:10.1123/jpah.8.3.420
- Garon, J.-D., Masse, A., & Michaud, P.-C. (2015). Health club attendance, expectations and self-control. *J Econ Behav Organ*, 119, 364-374. doi:10.1016/j.jebo.2015.08.015
- Garrett, S., Elley, C. R., Rose, S. B., O'Dea, D., Lawton, B. A., & Dowell, A. C. (2011). Are physical activity interventions in primary care and the community costeffective? A systematic review of the evidence. *Br. J. Gen. Pract.*, 61(584), 125-133. doi:10.3399/bjgp11X561249
- Gjestvang, C., Stensrud, T., Hansen, B. H., Kolle, E., & Haakstad, L. A. H. (2020). Are fitness club members likely to meet the current physical activity recommendations? *Transl. Sports Med.*, 3(2), 75-83. doi:10.1002/tsm2.120

- Gjestvang, C., Stensrud, T., & Haakstad, L. A. H. (2019). Are changes in physical fitness, body composition and weight associated with exercise attendance and dropout among fitness club members? Longitudinal prospective study. *BMJ Open*, 9(4), e027987. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2018-027987
- Gonçalves, C., & Diniz, A. (2015). Analysis of member retention in fitness through satisfaction, attributes perception, expectations and well-being. *Revista Portuguesa de Marketing*, 38, 65-76. ISSN: 0873-2949
- Gonçalves, C., Meireles, P., & Carvalho, M. (2016). Consumer Behaviour in Fitness Club: Study of the Weekly Frequency of Use, Expectations, Satisfaction and Retention. *Open Sports Sci. J.*, 9, 62-70. doi:10.2174/1875399X01609010062
- Goode, A. D., Lawler, S. P., Brakenridge, C. L., Reeves, M. M., & Eakin, E. G. (2015). Telephone, print, and Web-based interventions for physical activity, diet, and weight control among cancer survivors: a systematic review. *J Cancer Surviv*, 9(4), 660-682. doi:10.1007/s11764-015-0442-2
- Goode, A. D., Reeves, M. M., & Eakin, E. G. (2012). Telephone-Delivered Interventions for Physical Activity and Dietary Behavior Change. An Updated Systematic Review. Am. J. Prev. Med., 42(1), 81-88. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2011.08.025
- Graham, J. W. (2009). Missing data analysis: making it work in the real world. *Annu Rev Psychol*, 60, 549-576. doi: 10.1146/annurev.psych.58.110405.085530
- Guthold, R., Stevens, G. A., Riley, L. M., & Bull, F. C. (2018). Worldwide trends in insufficient physical activity from 2001 to 2016: a pooled analysis of 358 population-based surveys with 1.9 million participants. *Lancet Glob. Health*, 6(10), e1077-e1086. doi:10.1016/s2214-109x(18)30357-7
- Guthold, R., Stevens, G. A., Riley, L. M., & Bull, F. C. (2020). Global trends in insufficient physical activity among adolescents: a pooled analysis of 298 population-based surveys with 1.6 million participants. *The Lancet Child & Adolesc. Health*, 4(1), 23-35. doi:10.1016/S2352-4642(19)30323-2
- Habla, W., & Muller, P. (2021). Experimental evidence of limited attention at the gym. *Exp Econ.* doi:10.1007/s10683-020-09693-5
- Hallal, P. C., Andersen, L. B., Bull, F. C., Guthold, R., Haskell, W., & Ekelund, U. (2012). Global physical activity levels: surveillance progress, pitfalls, and prospects. *Lancet*, 380(9838), 247-257. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(12)60646-1
- Hasson, D., & Arnetz, B. B. (2005). Validation and findings comparing VAS vs. Likert scales for psychosocial measurements. *International Electronic Journal of Health Education*, 8, 178-192.

- Hupin, D., Roche, F., Gremeaux, V., Chatard, J. C., Oriol, M., Gaspoz, J. M., Barthelemy, J. C., & Edouard, P. (2015). Even a low-dose of moderate-tovigorous physical activity reduces mortality by 22% in adults aged >/=60 years: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Br. J. Sports Med.*, 49(19), 1262-1267. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2014-094306
- Hurley, T. (2004). Managing customer retention in the health and fitness industry: a case of neglect. *Ir. Mark. Rev.*, 17(1/2), 23.
- Jekauc, D., Voelkle, M., Wagner, M., Mess, F., Reiner-Henrich, M., & Renner, B. (2015). Prediction of attendance at fitness center: A comparison between the theory of planned behavior, the social cognitive theory, and the physical activity maintenance theory. *Front. Psychol*, 11;6:121 doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2015.00121
- Kahlert, D. (2015). Maintenance of physical activity: Do we know what we are talking about? *Prev. Med. Rep.*, *2*, 178-180. doi:10.1016/j.pmedr.2015.02.013
- Kahlmeier, S., Wijnhoven, T., Alpiger, P., Schweizer, C., Breda, J., & Martin, B. (2015). National physical activity recommendations: systematic overview and analysis of the situation in European countries. *BMC Public Health*, 15, 133. doi:10.1186/s12889-015-1412-3
- Kaushal, N., & Rhodes, R. E. (2015). Exercise habit formation in new gym members: a longitudinal study. J Behav Med, 38(4), 652-663. doi:10.1007/s10865-015-9640-7
- Kirkegaard, K. L. (2009). Portræt af de aktive fitnesskunder træningsmotiver, tilfredshed og selvvurderet sundhed. Delrapport 2 i projektet 'Sundhed for millioner'. Idrættens Analyseinstitut. ISBN: 978-87-92120-16-8
- Kohl, H. W., 3rd, Craig, C. L., Lambert, E. V., Inoue, S., Alkandari, J. R., Leetongin, G., & Kahlmeier, S. (2012). The pandemic of physical inactivity: global action for public health. *Lancet*, 380(9838), 294-305. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(12)60898-8
- Kopp, P. M., Senner, V., Kehr, H. M., & Gröpel, P. (2020). Achievement motive, autonomous motivation, and attendance at fitness center: A longitudinal prospective study. *Psychol Sport Exerc*, 51, 101758. doi:10.1016/j.psychsport.2020.101758
- Kuhlmann, T., Dantlgraber, M., & Reips, U.-D. (2017). Investigating measurement equivalence of visual analogue scales and Likert-type scales in Internet-based personality questionnaires. *Behavior Research Methods*, 49(6), 2173-2181. doi: 10.3758/s13428-016-0850-x
- Kuhlmann, T., Reips, U. D., Wienert, J., & Lippke, S. (2016). Using Visual Analogue Scales in eHealth: Non-Response Effects in a Lifestyle Intervention. J Med Internet Res, 18(6), e126. doi: 10.2196/jmir.5271
- Larsen, S., Mozdoorzoy, T., Kristiansen, E., Falch, H., Aune, T. K., & Tillaar, R. (2021). A Comparison of Motives by Gender and Age Categories for Training at Norwegian Fitness Centres. *Sports*, 9. doi:10.3390/sports9080113
- Lee, I. M., Shiroma, E. J., Lobelo, F., Puska, P., Blair, S. N., & Katzmarzyk, P. T. (2012). Effect of physical inactivity on major non-communicable diseases worldwide: an analysis of burden of disease and life expectancy. *Lancet*, 380(9838), 219-229. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(12)61031-9
- Lees, F. D., Clarkr, P. G., Nigg, C. R., & Newman, P. (2005). Barriers to exercise behavior among older adults: a focus-group study. J Aging Phys Act, 13(1), 23-33. doi:10.1123/japa.13.1.23
- León-Quismondo, J., García-Unanue, J., & Burillo, P. (2020). Best Practices for Fitness Center Business Sustainability: A Qualitative Vision. *Sustainability*, 12, 5067. doi: 10.3390/su12125067
- Lewis, B. A., Napolitano, M. A., Buman, M. P., Williams, D. M., & Nigg, C. R. (2017). Future directions in physical activity intervention research: expanding our focus to sedentary behaviors, technology, and dissemination. J. Behav. Med., 40(1), 112-126. doi:10.1007/s10865-016-9797-8
- Locke, E. A., & Latham, G. P. (2002). Building a practically useful theory of goal setting and task motivation: A 35-year odyssey. *American psychologist*, 57(9), 705-717. doi:10.1037/0003-066X.57.9.705
- Locke, E. A., & Latham, G. P. (2013). New developments in goal setting and task performance. New york and London: Routledge/Taylor & Francis Group. ISBN: 978-0-415-88548-5
- Lupton, D. (2015). Health promotion in the digital era: a critical commentary. *Health Promot Int*, *30*(1), 174-183. doi:10.1093/heapro/dau091
- Macintosh, E., & Law, B. (2015). Should I stay or should I go? Exploring the decision to join, maintain, or cancel a fitness membership. *Manag. Sport Leis*. (20:3), 191-210. doi:10.1080/23750472.2015.1025093
- Malterud, K. (2001). Qualitative research: standards, challenges, and guidelines. *Lancet*, 358(9280), 483-488. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(01)05627-6
- Malterud, K. (2011). *Kvalitative metoder i medisinsk forskning. En innføring (3.utgave).* Oslo: Universitetsforlaget. ISBN: 978-82-15-01800-3

- Malterud, K. (2012). Systematic text condensation: a strategy for qualitative analysis. *Scand. J. Public Health*, 40(8), 795-805. doi:10.1177/1403494812465030
- Mathews, A. E., Laditka, S. B., Laditka, J. N., Wilcox, S., Corwin, S. J., Liu, R., Friedman, D. B., Hunter, R., Tseng, W., & Logsdon, R. G. (2010). Older adults' perceived physical activity enablers and barriers: a multicultural perspective. J Aging Phys Act, 18(2), 119-140. doi:10.1123/japa.18.2.119
- Mehmetoglu, M. & Jakobsen, T. (2017). *Applied statistics using stata : a guide for the social sciences*. SAGE Publications. ISBN: 978-1-4739-1322-6
- Middelkamp, J., Van Rooijen, M., & Steenbergen, B. (2016). Attendance Behavior of Ex-members in Fitness Clubs: A Retrospective Study Applying the Stages of Change. *Percept. Mot. Ski.*, 122(1), 350-359. doi:10.1177/0031512516631075
- Moon, D. H., Yun, J., & McNamee, J. (2016). The effects of goal variation on adult physical activity behaviour. J Sports Sci, 34(19), 1816-1821. doi:10.1080/02640414.2016.1140218
- Moschny, A., Platen, P., Klaaßen-Mielke, R., Trampisch, U., & Hinrichs, T. (2011). Barriers to physical activity in older adults in Germany: a cross-sectional study. *Int. J. Behav. Nutr.*, 8(1), 121. doi:10.1186/1479-5868-8-121
- Mullen, S.P. & Whaley, D.E. (2011). Age, gender, and fitness club membership: Factors related to initial involvement and sustained participation *Int J Sport Exerc Psychol*, 8:24–35. doi:10.1080/1612197X.2010.9671931.
- Nelson, M. E., Rejeski, W. J., Blair, S. N., Duncan, P. W., Judge, J. O., King, A. C., Macera, C. A., & Castaneda-Sceppa, C. (2007). Physical activity and public health in older adults: recommendation from the American College of Sports Medicine and the American Heart Association. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 39(8), 1435-1445. doi:10.1249/mss.0b013e3180616aa2
- Nigg C.R., Borreli, B., Maddock, J., Dishman, R.K. (2008). A Theory of Physical Activity Maintenance. *Appl. Psychol.*, Volume 57, issue 4. doi:10.1111/j.1464-0597.2008.00343.x
- Nikolajsen, H., Sandal, L. F., Juhl, C. B., Troelsen, J., & Juul-Kristensen, B. (2021). Barriers to, and Facilitators of, Exercising in Fitness Centres among Adults with and without Physical Disabilities: A Scoping Review. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health*, 18(14), 7341. doi:10.3390/ijerph18147341
- Nohr, E. A., & Liew, Z. (2018). How to investigate and adjust for selection bias in cohort studies. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand*, 97(4), 407-416. doi:10.1111/aogs.13319

- Open, K., Bredesen, L., Moen, K. V., & Rekdal, K. E. (2019). *Treningssenterbransjen* 2019. Oslo: Virke Trening
- Open, K., Bredesen, L., & Rekdal, K. E. (2018). *Treningssenterbransjen 2018*. Oslo: Virke Trening
- Portney, L. G., & Watkins, M. P. (2009). Foundations of clinical research : applications to practice (3rd edition). Pearson Prentice Hall. ISBN-13: 978-0-13-234470-8, ISBN: 0-13-234470-X
- Rand, M., Goyder, E., Norman, P., & Womack, R. (2020). Why do new members stop attending health and fitness venues? The importance of developing frequent and stable attendance behaviour. *Psychol Sport Exerc*, 51, 101771. doi:10.1016/j.psychsport.2020.101771
- Rand, M., Norman, P., & Goyder, E. (2020). A systematic review of interventions to increase attendance at health and fitness venues: identifying key behaviour change techniques. *BMC Public Health*, 20(1), 1874-1874. doi:10.1186/s12889-020-09898-6
- Ready, A. E., Naimark, B. J., Tate, R., & Boreskie, S. L. (2005). Fitness centre membership is related to healthy behaviours. *J Sports Med Phys Fitness*, 45(2), 199-207. PMID: 16355081.
- Rhodes, R. E., Mcewan, D., & Rebar, A. L. (2019). Theories of physical activity behaviour change. A history and synthesis of approaches. *Psychol Sport Exerc*, 42, 100–109. doi:10.1016/j.psychsport.2018.11.010
- Riseth, L., Nost, T. H., Nilsen, T. I. L., & Steinsbekk, A. (2019). Long-term members' use of fitness centers: a qualitative study. *BMC Sports Sci. Med. Rehabilitation*, 11, 2. doi:10.1186/s13102-019-0114-z
- Rothwell, P. M. (2005). External validity of randomised controlled trials: "To whom do the results of this trial apply?". *Lancet*, 365(9453), 82-93. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(04)17670-8
- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2000). Self-determination theory and the facilitation of intrinsic motivation, social development, and well-being. *Am Psychol*, 55(1), 68-78. doi: 10.1037//0003-066x.55.1.68.
- Ryan, R. M., Williams, G.C., Patrick, H., & Deci, E.L. (2009). Self-determination theory and physical: The Dynamics of Motivation in Development and Wellness. *Hell. J. Psychol.* 6(2), 107-124.

- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2017). Self-determination theory: Basic psychological needs in motivation, development, and wellness. The Guilford Press. doi:10.1521/978.14625/28806
- Scanlan, T. K., Carpenter, P. J., Simons, J. P., Schmidt, G. W., & Keeler, B. (1993). An Introduction to the Sport Commitment Model. J Sport Exerc Psychol. 15(1), 1-15. doi:10.1123/jsep.15.1.1
- Scanlan, T. K., Russell, D. G., Magyar, T. M., & Scanlan, L. A. (2009). Project on elite athlete commitment (PEAK): III. An examination of the external validity across gender, and the expansion and clarification of the sport commitment model. *Journal of Sport and Exercise Psychology*, 31(6), 685-705
- Scanlan, T. K., Russell, D. G., Scanlan, L. A., Klunchoo, T. J., & Chow, G. M. (2013). Project on Elite Athlete Commitment (PEAK): IV. Identification of new candidate commitment sources in the Sport Commitment Model. *Journal of Sport and Exercise Psychology*, 35(5), 525-535.
- Scanlan, T. K., Chow, G. M., Sousa, C., Scanlan, L. A., & Knifsend, C. A. (2016). The development of the Sport Commitment Questionnaire-2 (English version). *Psychol Sport Exerc*, 22, 233-246. doi:10.1016/j.psychsport.2015.08.002
- Scheerder, J., Vehmas, H., & Helsen, K. (2020). The Global Health and Fitness Industry at a Glance. Fast, Fit, Flexible, Functional, Funny, Fashionable and Fanatic. In J. Scheerder, H. Vehmas, & K. Helsen (Eds.), *The Rise and Size of the Fitness Industry in Europe. Fit for the Future*? (pp. 1-32). doi:10.1007/978-3-030-53348-9\_1
- Schroeder, E. C., Welk, G. J., Franke, W. D., & Lee, D. C. (2017). Associations of Health Club Membership with Physical Activity and Cardiovascular Health. *PLoS One*, 12(1), e0170471. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0170471
- Schwarzer, R. (2001). Social-Cognitive Factors in Changing Health-Related Behaviors. *Curr Dir Psychol Sci*, 10(2), 47-51. doi:10.1111/1467-8721.00112
- Schwarzer, R. (2008), Modeling Health Behavior Change: How to Predict and Modify the Adoption and Maintenance of Health Behaviors. *Applied Psychology*, 57: 1-29. doi:10.1111/j.1464-0597.2007.00325.x
- Seymour, R. B., Hughes, S. L., Ory, M. G., Elliot, D. L., Kirby, K. C., Migneault, J., Patrick, H., Roll, J. M., & Williams, G. (2010). A lexicon for measuring maintenance of behavior change. *Am J Health Behav*, 34(6), 660-668. doi:10.5993/ajhb.34.6.3
- Sobreiro, P., Guedes-Carvalho, P., Santos, A., Pinheiro, P., & Gonçalves, C. (2021). Predicting Fitness Centre Dropout. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 18 (19), 10465. doi: 10.3390/ijerph181910465

- Sperandei, S., Vieira, M., & Reis, A. (2019). Adherence to Physical Activity in an Unsupervised Setting: The Case of Lapse and Return to Practice in a Brazilian Fitness Center. Athens j. sports, 6, 95-108. doi:10.30958/ajspo.6-2-3
- Spieth, P. M., Kubasch, A. S., Penzlin, A. I., Illigens, B. M., Barlinn, K., & Siepmann, T. (2016). Randomized controlled trials - a matter of design. *Neuropsychiatr. Dis. Treat.*, 12, 1341-1349. doi:10.2147/ndt.S101938
- Stralen, M., de Vries, H., Mudde, A., Bolman, C., & Lechner, L. (2009). Determinants of initiation and maintenance of physical activity among older adults: A literature review. *Health Psychol. Rev.*, *3*, 147-207. doi:10.1080/17437190903229462
- Swann, C., Rosenbaum, S., Lawrence, A., Vella, S. A., McEwan, D., & Ekkekakis, P. (2020). Updating goal-setting theory in physical activity promotion: a critical conceptual review. *Health Psychol. Rev*, 1-17. doi:10.1080/17437199.2019.1706616
- Teixeira, P. J., Carraca, E. V., Markland, D., Silva, M. N., & Ryan, R. M. (2012). Exercise, physical activity, and self-determination theory: a systematic review. *Int. J. Behav. Nutr. Phys. Act.*, 9, 78. doi:10.1186/1479-5868-9-78
- The Ministry of Health and Care Services (HOD). (2015). *Meld. St. 19 (2014-2015). Folkehelsemeldingen. Mestring og muligheter*. Oslo: The Ministry of Health and Care Services. Available at: <u>https://www.regjeringen.no/no/dokumenter/meld.-</u> <u>st.-19-2014-2015/id2402807/</u> (accessed: 18.10.2021)
- The Ministry of Health and Care Services (HOD). (2020). Sammen om aktive liv. Handlingsplan for fysisk aktivitet 2020–2029. Oslo: The Ministry of Health and Care Services. Available at: <u>https://www.regjeringen.no/no/dokumenter/sammen-om-aktive-liv/id2704955/</u> (accessed: 18.10.2021)
- The Norwegian Directorate of Health. (2021). *Physical activity recommendations* (consultation draft) [online document]. Oslo: The Norwegian Directorate of Health. Available at: <u>https://www.helsedirektoratet.no/faglige-rad/fysisk-aktivitet-horingsutkast</u> (accessed: 18.10.2021)
- Thomas, J. G., & Bond, D. S. (2014). Review of innovations in digital health technology to promote weight control. *Curr Diab Rep*, *14*(5), 485. doi:10.1007/s11892-014-0485-1
- van Sluijs, E. M., McMinn, A. M., & Griffin, S. J. (2008). Effectiveness of interventions to promote physical activity in children and adolescents: systematic review of controlled trials. *Br. J. Sports Med.*, 42(8), 653-657. doi: 10.1136/bmj.39320.843947.BE.

- van Sluijs, E. M. F., Ekelund, U., Crochemore-Silva, I., Guthold, R., Ha, A., Lubans, D., Oyeyemi, A. L., Ding, D., & Katzmarzyk, P. T. (2021). Physical activity behaviours in adolescence: current evidence and opportunities for intervention. *Lancet*, 398(10298), 429-442. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(21)01259-9
- Vandelanotte, C., Spathonis, K. M., Eakin, E. G., & Owen, N. (2007). Websitedelivered physical activity interventions a review of the literature. *Am. J. Prev. Med.*, 33(1), 54-64. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2007.02.041
- Virke Trening. (2013). Treningssenterbransjen 2013. Oslo: Virke Trening
- Virke Trening. (2016). Fra muskelmasse til massebevegelse et innblikk i deler av treningssenterbransjens historie i Norge. Oslo: Virke Trening
- Wen, C. P., Wai, J. P., Tsai, M. K., Yang, Y. C., Cheng, T. Y., Lee, M. C., Chan, H. T., Tsao, C. K., Tsai, S. P., & Wu, X. (2011). Minimum amount of physical activity for reduced mortality and extended life expectancy: a prospective cohort study. *Lancet*, 378(9798), 1244-1253. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(11)60749-6
- World Health Organization. (2010). Global recommendations on physical activity for health. World Health Organization. Available at: <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/44399 (accessed: 18.10.2021)</u> ISBN: 9789241599979
- World Health Organization. Regional Office for Europe. (2016). Physical activity strategy for the WHO European Region 2016-2025. World Health Organization. Regional Office for Europe. Available at: <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/329407 (accessed: 18.10.2021)</u> ISBN: 9789289051477
- World Health Organization. (2018). Global action plan on physical activity 2018–2030: more active people for a healthier world. World Health Organization. Available at: <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/272722.</u> (accessed: 18.10.2021) License: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO
- Zhang, C. Q., Zhang, R., Schwarzer, R., & Hagger, M. S. (2019). A meta-analysis of the health action process approach. *Health Psychol*, 38(7), 623-637. doi:10.1037/hea0000728

# Paper I

Preventive Medicine Reports 24 (2021) 101605

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Preventive Medicine Reports



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/pmedr

# The effect of initial support on fitness center use in new fitness center members. A randomized controlled trial

Liv Riseth<sup>a,b,\*</sup>, Tom Ivar Lund Nilsen<sup>a,c</sup>, Øyvind Mittet<sup>b</sup>, Aslak Steinsbekk<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Department of Public Health and Nursing, Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Post box 8905, 7491 Trondheim, Norway

<sup>b</sup> 3T- Fitness Center, Vestre Rosten 80, 7075 Tiller, Norway

<sup>c</sup> Clinic of Anaesthesia and Intensive Care, St Olavs Hospital, Trondheim University Hospital, Trondheim, Norway

#### ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: Fitness center Fitness trainer bookings Randomized controlled trial Membership duration Visits Fitness center use Telephone E-mail

# ABSTRACT

This provider and participant blinded parallel-group randomized controlled trial aimed to investigate if initial support given to new members via telephone and e-mail, compared to self-directed use, had an effect on booking with a fitness trainer, number of visits to the center, and membership duration. Participants included 356 new members, 174 randomized to the intervention group, and 182 to the control group. The intervention group received support to use the fitness center facilities through two phone calls and one e-mail over the first eight weeks of their membership. The control group got usual practice, which is self-directed use.

Participants in the intervention group were more likely to book at least one session with a fitness trainer during the first six months (odds ratio 1.6, 95% confidence interval (CI) 1.0–2.5). However, the intervention did not influence the number of visits (mean difference after four years -11.7 days, 95% CI -34.8 to 11.3) or time to membership termination during the follow-up period (hazard ratio 1.1, 95% CI 0.8-1.3).

In conclusion, initial support to use the fitness center facilities given to new fitness center members via telephone and e-mail increased the proportion of bookings with a fitness trainer during the first months of the membership, but it did not have an effect on the number of visits or membership termination during four years.

# 1. Introduction

Public reports show that in 2017, 11% of citizens within the European Union reported a fitness center membership (Commission and Eurobarometer, 2017). In Norway, the number of fitness centers has more than doubled during the past decade, from 477 in 2008 to 1228 in 2019 (Open et al., 2018, 2019), and 30% of Norwegians aged 15 years or more had a fitness center membership in 2018 (Open et al., 2018). Thus, fitness- and sports centers where members pay to exercise constitute an essential arena for physical activity.

Although fitness center members report an intention of regular fitness center use at the time of enrollment (Garon et al., 2015), many have few visits, and some never visit the fitness center during the first membership month (Middelkamp et al., 2016; Gjestvang et al., 2020). One study found that 50 percent did not visit the fitness center the first membership month and 20 percent never attended the center during 24 months (Middelkamp et al., 2016) while another found that 37 percent were classified as regular exercisers throughout the first year of the membership (Gjestvang et al., 2020). Moreover, around 50 percent are

reported to terminate their membership during the first year (Clavel San Emeterio et al., 2019; MacIntosh and Law, 2015; Emeterio et al., 2020). This mismatch between the intention at enrollment and the subsequent use of the fitness center suggests an unfulfilled potential to help member's increase their fitness center use.

We have not identified any research describing what fitness centers do to support new members to start using their services, and consequently not any studies investigating the effect of such interventions. However, as the frequency of visits, particularly during the start-up phase, has been positively associated with later use of the exercise facilities (Middelkamp et al., 2016) and longer membership duration (Clavel San Emeterio et al., 2019; Emeterio et al., 2020), getting new members to start using the fitness center in the initial phase of the membership seems worthwhile. One approach is to contact members by telephone and mail to offer initial support to start using the fitness center. Although this approach has been investigated in other settings (Goode et al., 2015; Goode et al., 2012; Fischer et al., 2019; Vandelanotte et al., 2007), it has not been investigated in a fitness center setting.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmedr.2021.101605

Received 27 May 2021; Received in revised form 3 September 2021; Accepted 17 October 2021

Available online 19 October 2021

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author at: Department of Public Health and Nursing, Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Post box 8905, 7491 Trondheim, Norway. *E-mail addresses:* liv.riseth@ntnu.no (L. Riseth), tom.nilsen@ntnu.no (T. Ivar Lund Nilsen), aslak.steinsbekk@ntnu.no (A. Steinsbekk).

<sup>2211-3355/© 2021</sup> The Authors. Published by Elsevier Inc. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

#### L. Riseth et al.

Therefore, this randomized controlled trial aimed to investigate if initial support given to new fitness center members via telephone and email to use the fitness center facilities, compared to self-directed use, had an effect on booking with a fitness trainer free of extra charge, the number of visits to the center and membership duration during four years after enrollment.

# 2. Materials and methods

This was a participant and provider-blinded, parallel-group, randomized controlled trial. The inclusion was done in the first week of September 2014, and follow-up data from the membership register covered September 2014 to September 2018. The Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials (Schulz et al., 2010) and The Template for Intervention Description and Replication (Hoffmann et al., 2014) were consulted for the reporting. There were no changes to the methods after trial commencement.

# 2.1. Setting

The study was conducted at the 3T-Fitness Center chain (www.3t.no) in Trondheim, Norway. The fitness chain had eight centers and approximately 34.000 members in 2014, and the number of inhabitants aged  $\geq 16$  years in Trondheim was around 165.000. The centers in this chain have a diversity of training facilities with a main workout area that consists of various exercise equipment, and all centers are staffed. In addition, seven out of eight centers offer group activities. The monthly cost for a membership in this fitness center chain was approximately 350–500 NOK (35–50 EUR) and most new members subscribe to a 12-month binding contract, which subsequently runs until terminated by the member. The front staff at each center consists of receptionists, as well as fitness trainers with minimum a bachelor's degree in physiotherapy, movement science or similar. The fitness trainers are present in the main workout area and are available for questions and guidance in relation to activities and exercises.

At the time of enrollment, all members receive information about the benefits of the membership and practical use of the fitness center by the receptionist. The usual practice at the centers is self-directed use with possibilities for help and guidance from front staff upon request. In addition, members can book a free-of-charge session with a fitness trainer and get a personalized exercise program. Members can also choose to pay for a personal trainer for closer follow-up and guidance.

#### 2.2. Recruitment and inclusion criteria

The study included all persons 16 years or older that signed up for a 12-month ordinary contract with continuous monthly automatic membership renewal afterwards, who started their membership at one of the eight 3T-Fitness Centers in the City of Trondheim between September 1st and September 9th, 2014.

#### 2.3. Intervention

The intervention was developed by the fitness center chain head office and delivered as planned with no changes after trial commencement. The idea was to give new members initial support via two phone calls 1–3 and 6–8 weeks after enrollment as a member and an e-mail after four weeks (Table 1), aiming to support members to use the fitness center facilities, including group activities and face-to-face support from a fitness trainer. Fitness trainers are in this fitness center chain a free service, giving the members a possibility to get a tour at the fitness center, guidance concerning exercise, a personal exercise plan, and information about group activities and use of other services.

Each fitness center organized the calls for its members by using available fitness trainers, typically from one to eight at the different centers. The fitness trainers used a template to guide the content, Preventive Medicine Reports 24 (2021) 101605

#### Table 1

Timing, implementation, and content of the intervention to support members to start to use the facilities.

Timing and implementation	Summary of the template content
Week 1–3: Phone call from a fitness trainer	<ul> <li>Ask if the member has started to use the fitness center and if there are any questions related to the use.</li> <li>If started to use, further questions about their use in general and group activities in particular.</li> <li>If not started to use, questions whether the member has used a fitness center before and if there is anything the staff could do to make it easier to get started.</li> <li>Inform the member about the possibility to get guidance from a fitness trainer free of extra charge and ask if the member has lad guidance with a fitness trainer.</li> <li>If yes, further questions about experiences with the guidance from the fitness trainer, goals set during the guidance and use of the exercise program.</li> <li>If no, the value of guidance with a fitness trainer to get help, which will make it easier to zet help, which will make it easier to and what is needed to be more satisfied with the membership. Inform about the possibility for the part of the guestions and what is needed to be more satisfied with the membership. Inform about the possibility for the part of the starter for the fitnest is needed to be more satisfied with the membership. Inform about the possibility for the part of the starter for the fitnest form and what is needed to be more satisfied with the membership. Inform about the possibility for the part of the membership.</li> </ul>
Week 4: E-mail sent from head office to members registered with an e-mail address	Information about guidance from a fitness trainer, how to reach physical activity goals, link to information about some examples of strength- and cardiovascular programs and popular activities at the fitness center. Furthermore, link to frequently asked questions and motivational campaigns and information about the possibility for help and support from the front staff.
Week 6–8: Second phone call from a fitness trainer	Same procedure and content as the first phone call but adjusted to the members use or not of the fitness center and guidance from a fitness trainer.

structure, and wording during the call and received no other instructions or training. The intention was that all participants should get two calls, and therefore, two attempts to reach the members were made for each of the two phone calls, and if they did not answer, a voice message was left on the participant's phone. In the voice message, the participants were informed about the possibility of guidance with a fitness trainer and encouraged to contact the fitness center if they had questions about use of the fitness center.

The control group received usual practice, which is self-directed use with possibilities for help and guidance from staff upon request.

#### 2.4. Ethical considerations

The study was conducted in accordance with the World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki – Ethical Principles for Medical Research Involving Human subjects. Data were anonymized and only available to the authors after anonymization. According to Norwegian law, only health research, which this study is not, is assessed by The Regional Committee for Medical and Health Research Ethics. A request was sent to the Norwegian Centre for Research Data, which assesses privacy and data protection. They replied that registration was not required as no identifying or sensitive information was used. The study was considered to have low or no risk for the participants due to the

#### L. Riseth et al.

nature of the intervention (phone calls and e-mail), and there was no collection of sensitive data.

### 2.5. Outcome measures

To obtain outcome data, the head office of the fitness center chain sent a list with the membership ID numbers for those meeting the inclusion criteria to the provider of the membership register, who returned a file with membership and activity data. To ensure the quality of the data, an employee in the head office of the fitness center chain did random checks of the data file. Finally, de-identified data on age, sex, and timestamps for each visit, date of membership termination and date for appointment for individual guidance with a fitness trainer was delivered to the first author.

The outcomes were number of days the participants had been registered with one or more visits, having made a booking with a fitness trainer free of extra charge at three months, six months and four years after enrollment, and membership duration measured as proportion who terminated their membership during four years as well as time to membership termination. There were no changes to trial outcomes after the trial commenced.

# 2.6. Sample size

The Sampsi procedure in STATA for comparison of two means was used for sample size calculations. This suggested that 143 persons in each group was sufficient to detect a mean difference at three months of two visits between the groups using an assumed standard deviation of 6 visits (i.e. standard deviation three times larger than the mean difference), alpha level of 0.05 and a power of 80%. Based on the enrollment history from previous years, it was expected that approximately 350 new members meeting the inclusion criteria would enroll during the first week of September 2014.

## 2.7. Randomization and allocation

A list with random numbers generated in Excel was delivered to an employee in the head office not affiliated with the study, who consecutively added the name and contact information of new members as they enrolled in the one-week recruitment period. Then the list was sorted on the random number and the 175 participants with the smallest numbers (first in the list) were assigned to the intervention group, and the remainder were assigned to the control group. Each center then received a list of the new members in the intervention group enrolled at their center, which was used to conduct the phone calls. Another employee in the head office used the list to send out the e-mail.

# 2.8. Blinding

Neither the participants nor the staff who performed the intervention were informed that the phone calls and e-mail were part of a research study. All new members of the fitness center signed a membership contract upon enrollment where they acknowledge that the fitness center could contact them with information about the membership and use of the fitness center. Furthermore, the staff at the fitness centers were not told that the phone calls and e-mail constituted the intervention in a study, but that this was a test of new routines and a possible solution to help members to get started in the initial phase of their membership. This is common practice for new initiatives within this fitness center chain. The outcome data were automatically registered in the membership registry and could not be influenced by anyone in the research group.

# 2.9. Statistical methods

All analyses were done according to the intention to treat principle and included all participants initially randomized to the intervention or control group. Mean differences in number of days with visits between the groups were estimated using linear regression. Odds ratios (OR) for having booked with a fitness trainer was estimated using logistic regression. Differences in membership duration was displayed as a Kaplan-Meier curve, and the relative difference between the groups was assessed as a hazard ratio (HR) using Cox regression. Due to former research reporting sex and age differences in membership duration (Emeterio et al., 2020), all models included adjustments for sex (woman, man) and five age groups categorized to have approximately same number in each group, which gave groups from 16 to 19, 20–24, 25–29, 30–39, and 40–76 years. The precision of estimated effects was assessed by a 95% confidence interval (95% CI).

Additional analyses were conducted to explore whether sex, age, frequency of visits, and having booked with a fitness trainer during the first six months were associated with membership duration in the whole sample. The first six months' average number of visits were categorized into four groups with an approximately equal number of participants (quartiles), ranging from 0 to 12 visits in the first category, 13–24 visits in the second, 25–48 visits in category three, and the last included 49–105 visits. Differences in membership duration were estimated as HRs with 95% CI using Cox regression. In addition, associations with age were adjusted for sex (woman, man), and fitness trainer and number of visits mean.

#### 3. Results

A total of 357 new members were initially included in the trial (Fig. 1). One participant with a six-month instead of a 12-month contract was wrongly included, but was excluded after randomization and not included in the analysis. This left 356 participants for the analyses (174intheinterventiongroupand182inthecontrolgroup). The groups were similar at baseline with respect to sex and age (Table 2).

#### 3.1. Implementation of the intervention

The first phone call reached 127 out of the 174 (73%) participants in the intervention group and the second phone call reached 119 (68%). The e-mail was sent to the 158 (91%) participants who had registered their e-mail address at the fitness center.

#### 3.2. Fitness trainer bookings

The intervention had an effect on the proportion of participants who booked a fitness trainer during the first three (OR 1.8, 95% CI 1.1–2.7) and six (OR 1.6, 95% CI 1.0–2.5) months (Table 3).

# 3.3. Number of visits

The intervention did not increase the number of visits to the fitness center (Table 4). The mean number of days with visits from baseline to six months was 29 days in the intervention group and 32 days in the control group (mean difference -2.3 days, 95% CI -7 to 2.5), while it was 98 compared to 109 days after four years (mean difference after 4 years -11.7 days, 95% CI -34.8 to 11.3).

#### 3.4. Membership duration

The proportion of persons terminating their membership during the four-year follow-up period was also similar between the intervention (79%) and control (76%) group. Furthermore, there was no difference in time to membership termination between the groups during the four years (HR 1.1, 95% CI 0.8–1.3) (Fig. 2).



Fig. 1. Participant flow diagram through the study.

Table 4

# Table 2 Participant characteristics at baseline for the intervention and control group (N = 356).

Characteristic	Intervention group (n = 174)	Control group ( $n = 182$ )
Sex, n (%)		
Female	111 (63%)	113 (62%)
Male	63 (37%)	69 (38%)
Mean age, years (SD)	30 ()	29 ()
Age groups, n (%)		
16 to 19	27 (15%)	32 (18%)
20 to 24	48(28%)	62 (34%)
25 to 29	35 (20%)	31(17%)
30 to 39	30 (17%)	27 (15%)
40 to 76	34 (20%)	30 (17%)

# Table 3

Effect of the intervention on booking with a free fitness trainer during three and six months after baseline.

Period	Booked with Yes, n (%)	a fitness trainer No, n (%)	Crude OR	Adjusted OR(95% CI) <sup>a</sup>
3 months Control Intervention 6 months Control Intervention	59 (32%) 78 (45%) 67 (37%) 83 (48%)	123 (68%) 96 (55%) 115 (63%) 91 (52%)	1.0 1.7 1.0 1.6	1.0 (Reference) 1.8 (1.1–2.7) 1.0 (Reference) 1.6 (1.0–2.5)

Abbreviations: OR = odds ratio. CI = confidence interval

 $^{a}$  Adjusted for age (16–19, 20–24, 25–29, 30–39 and  $\geq$  40 years) and sex (man, woman)

## 3.5. Additional analyses

There was no evidence that booking with a fitness trainer or sex was associated with membership duration during four years in the whole

# . . . . . .

Mean number of days with visits and mean difference between intervention and control group.

Time from baseline	m Mean number of days with visits (SD)		Mean differe	nce between groups
	Intervention	Control	Crude difference	Adjusted difference (95% CI) <sup>a</sup>
3 months	16.8 (12.4)	18.3 (13.4)	- 1.4	-1.0 (-3.7 to 1.6)
6 months	29.2 (23.1)	32.0 (23.2)	- 2.8	-2.3 (-7 to 2.5)
4 years	98.1 (107.1)	108.9 (114.2)	- 10.8	– 11.7 (-34.8 to 11.3)

Abbreviations: SD = standard deviation; CI = confidence interval

 $^{a}$  Adjusted for age (16–19, 20–24, 25–29, 30–39 and  $\geq$  40 years) and sex (man, woman)

sample (Table 5). However, age was inversely associated with time to membership termination, where members aged  $\geq$  40 years had a HR of 0.3 (95% CI 0.2–0.4) compared to those aged 20–24 years. Also, number of visits the first six months showed an inverse association with membership termination, where participants with  $\geq$  49 visits during four years (at least two visits each week) had a HR of 0.6 (95% CI 0.4–0.9) compared to members with 12 visits or less.

# 3.6. Harms

No harms or unintended effects was observed or reported during the study

# 4. Discussion

New fitness center members who received initial support to use the fitness center, delivered through telephone and e-mail contact, were



Fig. 2. Kaplan-Meier survival curve and hazard ratio for membership termination during four years.

et al., 2008;Volume; Howlett et al., 2019). Therefore, the effect of a more individualized approach that includes behavior change techniques could be worth examining also for new members of fitness centers.

The delivery method included one e-mail and two phone calls and no face-to-face support. Previous research has shown that support through e-mail (Plotnikoff et al., 2010), telephone (Goode et al., 2012), or faceto-face (Richards et al., 2013) can change behavior, but differences between and combinations of these methods have been less explored. An intervention study indicates telephone support to be as effective in increasing physical activity as face-to-face support (Opdenacker and Boen, 2008). However, a review concluded that there was insufficient evidence to assess whether it is effect differences between face-to-face interventions or remote and web 2.0 approaches at promoting physical activity (Richards et al., 2013). Second, the quantity of the intervention was limited to two phone calls and one e-mail. A previous study found that a telephone delivered intervention with three calls increased the participant's attention towards the printed material in the study, but had no effect on the targeted physical activity (walking) (Humpel et al., 2004). However, a randomized trial with up to 12 calls found higher physical activity levels than a minimal intervention with written phys-

Table 5

Additional analyses of factors associated with membership terminations during four years.

Variables	Number at baseline	Number and proportion terminating membership during four years	Crude hazard ratio	Adjusted hazard ratio (95% CI) <sup>a</sup>
Sex				
Female	224	168 (75%)	1.0 (Reference)	
Men	132	103 (78%)	1.0 (0.8–1.4)	
Age				
16-19 years	59	47 (80%)	0.7	0.7 (0.5-0.9)
20-24 years	110	86 (78%)	1.0	1.0 (Reference)
25-29 years	67	41 (61%)	0.6	0.6 (0.4-0.9)
30-39 years	57	37 (65%)	0.5	0.5 (0.4-0.8)
40-76 years	64	27 (42%)	0.3	0.3 (0.2-0.4)
Booking with fitness trainer				
No	206	138 (67%)	1.0	1.0 (Reference)
Yes	150	100 (67%)	1.1	1.1 (0.9–1.4)
Number of visits				
0-12 visits	91	78 (86%)	1.0	1.0 (Reference)
13-24 visits	84	58 (69%)	0.7	0.7 (0.5-1.0)
25-48 visits	104	75 (72%)	0.7	0.7 (0.5-1.0)
49–105 visits	78	61 (78%)	0.7	0.6 (0.4–0.9)

Abbreviations: CI = confidence interval

<sup>a</sup> Associations with age are adjusted for sex (man, woman); fitness trainer bookings and visits are adjusted for age (16–19, 20–24, 25–29, 30–39 and  $\geq$  40 years) and sex (man, woman)

more likely to book appointments with a fitness trainer during six months of follow-up compared to the control group who received usual practice. The intervention had no effect on number of days with visits to the fitness center or on membership duration during the four-year follow-up period.

Since the intervention increased the proportion who booked with a fitness trainer, it is likely that the content of the initial support influenced the start-up behavior and made members aware that this service was available. However, even though the intervention increased the likelihood to book with a fitness trainer, there was no effect on the number of visits in the same time period or membership duration during four years. The latter was also supported by additional analyzes, where booking with a fitness trainer was not associated with membership duration.

The lack of effect of the intervention should be viewed in light of the limited possibility to individualize the communication with the members within the standardized template for content, structure and wording in the phone calls. However, individualized interventions applying different behavior change techniques, such as goal setting, have been found to increase physical activity (Fischer et al., 2019; Nigg

ical activity recommendations (Fischer et al., 2019). Frequent and focused follow-up through remote or web interventions has effectively encouraged the uptake of physical activity (Foster et al., 2013; CD010395.), as have other interventions with varying modes and frequency of contact (Goode et al., 2012; Vandelanotte et al., 2007). Thus, the optimal delivery mode and number of contact points need further investigation.

Another aspect is how the intervention was experienced. Since the intervention was blinded to the participants, the fitness center members who received the intervention (i.e., phone calls and e-mail) were not informed about this contact in advance. This type of contact was probably not expected when signing up for a membership, and one could speculate that some could receive this as an intrusion or sale, not support. In a randomized trial showing effect, the participants were aware that they could be contacted by telephone when they signed up for the study (Fischer et al., 2019). It was not collected data on how the phone calls were perceived, but some of the fitness trainers performing the phone calls. Privacy, personal freedom and not wanting to be bothered at home are some attitudes toward telephone surveys reported (Kolar and

Preventive Medicine Reports 24 (2021) 101605

Kolar, 2008). To avoid such reactions, the fitness centers could ask new members if they want to be contacted or not.

After 12 months when the compulsory part of the membership contract ended, there was a steady decline in membership retention and more than half had terminated their membership after two years, similar to other studies (Clavel San Emeterio et al., 2019; Emeterio et al., 2020). The additional analysis showed that time to membership termination was shortest for members with fewest visits during the first six months (less than one day with visit every other week). In a study from Spain, more than eight visits a month was associated with the lowest odds for termination (Clavel San Emeterio et al., 2019). This support the assumption that increased visits in the start-up phase of a membership would lead to longer membership duration. Even though many members terminated their membership, more than 20% continued as a member over four years in the present study. This group of long-term members could give valuable insight into factors that influence membership use and duration in future studies.

#### 4.1. Strengths and limitations

This is the first randomized controlled trial investigating the effects of initial support given to new members via telephone and e-mail on use of the fitness center facilities. Considering the Revised Cochrane risk-ofbias tool for randomized trials (Higgins et al., 2019), the study results are evaluated to be at low risk of bias. A main strength of this study was the randomized controlled design, blinding of participants and those delivering the intervention, and inclusion of the number of participants indicated by the sample size calculation. However, the variation in number of visits was larger than expected, resulting in unprecise estimates of differences between the groups.

The outcome variables and the period analyzed were pre-planned. There were no baseline differences between the groups, indicating a successful randomization process. Use of register data ensured that outcome measures were available for all participants and provided a complete follow-up. The study was conducted in a real-life setting and thus likely to be generalizable to similar fitness centers. Unfortunately, this study did not measure the member's physical activity behavior, and their physical activity levels are therefore unclear.

# 5. Conclusion

This study reports data from a randomized controlled trial showing that new fitness center members who receive two initial phone calls and one e-mail to support them to use the fitness center were more likely to book one or more fitness trainer appointments during the first six membership months. However, initial telephone and e-mail support had no effect on number of days with visits to the fitness center or on membership duration during the four-year follow-up period.

There is a clear need for future high-quality studies building upon this study. Future research could focus on investigating whether other delivery modes and number of contact points are more effective.

#### 6. Availability of data and material

The anonymized datafiles and trial protocol are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request. The trial protocol was not published before trial commencement.

#### Funding

Liv Riseth is an Industrial Ph.D. candidate funded 50/50 by 3 T-Fitness Center and The Research Council of Norway (grant number 239657) and was employed at 3 T-Fitness Center from January 2013 until June 2018.

Registration: ClinicalTrials.gov trial (NCT03989804)

#### CRediT authorship contribution statement

Liv Riseth: Conceptualization, Methodology, Formal analysis, Visualization, Investigation, Funding acquisition, Project administration, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. Tom Ivar Lund Nilsen: Conceptualization, Methodology, Formal analysis, Supervision, Visualization, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. Øyvind Mittet: Conceptualization, Methodology, Investigation, Project administration, Writing – review & editing. Aslak Steinsbekk: Conceptualization, Methodology, Formal analysis, Project administration, Funding acquisition, Supervision, Visualization, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing.

#### **Declaration of Competing Interest**

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

#### Acknowledgments

We thank all contributors, Hilde Thommesen Holck (CEO at 3T), Tor Albert Thommesen (Chairman of the Board at 3T), Monica Leinum Bye (employee at 3T), Johnny Gaustad (employee at 3T), Bjørn Tore Norum (employee at 3T) for involvement and contribution in the project.

# References

- European Commission. Special Eurobarometer 472 December 2017 "Sport and Physical activity" Report. DG EAC; 2018. Report No.: 2018.1460.
- Open, K., Bredesen, L., Moen, K.V., Rekdal, K.E., 2019. Treningssenterbransjen 2019. VIRKE Trening, Oslo, Norway.
- Open, K., Bredesen, L., Rekdal, K.E., 2018. Treningssenterbransjen 2018. VIRKE Trening, Oslo, Norway.
- Garon, J.-D., Masse, A., Michaud, P.-C., 2015. Health club attendance, expectations and self-control. J. Econ. Behav. Organ. 119, 364–374.
- Middelkamp, J., Van Rooijen, M., Steenbergen, B., 2016. Attendance Behavior of Exmembers in Fitness Clubs: A Retrospective Study Applying the Stages of Change. Percept Mot Ski. 122 (1), 350–359.
- Gjestvang, C., Abrahamsen, F., Stensrud, T., Haakstad, L.A.H., 2020. Motives and barriers to initiation and sustained exercise adherence in a fitness club setting-A oneyear follow-up study. Scand J Med Sci Sports. 30 (9), 1796–1805.
- Clavel San Emeterio, I., García-Unanue, J., Iglesias-Soler, E., Luis Felipe, J., Gallardo, L., 2019. Prediction of abandonment in Spanish fitness centres. Eur J Sport Sci. 19 (2), 217–224.
- MacIntosh, E., Law, B., 2015. Should I stay or should I go? Exploring the decision to join, maintain, or cancel a fitness membership. Manag Sport Leis. 20 (3), 191–210. Emeterio, I.C.S., García-Unanue, J., Iglesias-Soler, E., Gallardo, L., Felipe, J.L., 2020.
- Emeterio, I.C.S., Garcia-Unanue, J., Iglesias-Soler, E., Gallardo, L., Felipe, J.L., 2020. Drop out prediction in sport centres Definition of models and reproducibility. Retos. 37, 54–61.
- Goode, A.D., Lawler, S.P., Brakenridge, C.L., Reeves, M.M., Eakin, E.G., 2015. Telephone, print, and Web-based interventions for physical activity, diet, and weight control among cancer survivors: a systematic review. Journal of cancer survivorship : research and practice. 9 (4), 660–682.
  Goode, A.D., Reeves, M.M., Eakin, E.G., 2012. Telephone-Delivered Interventions for
- Goode, A.D., Reeves, M.M., Eakin, E.G., 2012. Telephone-Delivered Interventions for Physical Activity and Dietary Behavior Change. An Updated Systematic Review. Am J Prev Med. 42 (1), 81–88.
- Fischer, X., Kreppke, J.-N., Zahner, L., Gerber, M., Faude, O., Donath, L., 2019. Telephone-Based Coaching and Prompting for Physical Activity: Short- and Long-Term Findings of a Randomized Controlled Trial (Movingcall). Int J Environ Res Public Health. 16 (14), 2626. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16142626.
- Vandelanotte, C., Spathonis, K.M., Eakin, E.G., Owen, N., 2007. Website-delivered physical activity interventions a review of the literature. Am J Prev Med. 33 (1), 54–64.
- Schulz, K.F., Altman, D.G., Moher, D., 2010. CONSORT 2010 Statement: updated guidelines for reporting parallel group randomised trials. BMC Med. 8 (1) https:// doi.org/10.1186/1741-7015-8-18.
- T.C. Hoffmann P.P. Glasziou I. Boutron R. Milne R. Perera D. Moher D.G. Altman V. Barbour H. Macdonald M. Johnston S.E. Lamb M. Dixon-Woods P. McCulloch J.C. Wyatt A.-W. Chan S. Michie Better reporting of interventions: template for intervention description and replication (TIDieR) checklist and guide BMJ (Clinical research ed). 348 mar07 3 2014 g1687 g1687.

Nigg, C.R.B.B., Maddock, J., Dishman, R.K., 2008. A Theory of Physical Activity Maintenance. Appl Psychol. 57 (4). Howlett, N., Trivedi, D., Troop, N.A., Chater, A.M., 2019. Are physical activity

interventions for healthy inactive adults effective in promoting behavior change and

## L. Riseth et al.

- maintenance, and which behavior change techniques are effective? A systematic review and meta-analysis. Transl Behav Med. 9 (1), 147–157. Plotnikoff, R.C., Pickering, M.A., McCargar, L.J., Loucaides, C.A., Hugo, K., 2010. Six-month follow-up and participant use and satisfaction of an electronic mail intervention promoting physical activity and nutrition. American journal of health promotion : AJHP. 24 (4), 255-259.
- Richards J, Hillsdon M, Thorogood M, Foster C. Face-to-face interventions for promoting physical activity. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. 2013(9). Opdenacker, J., Boen, F., 2008. Effectiveness of face-to-face versus telephone support in
- increasing physical activity and mental health among university employees. Journal of physical activity & health. 5 (6), 830–843.
- J. Richards M. Thorogood M. Hillsdon C. Foster C. Foster Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews: Reviews John Wiley & Sons, Ltd Chichester, UK 10.1002/ 14651858.CD010393.pub2.
- Humpel, N., Marshall, A.L., Iverson, D., Leslie, E., Owen, N., 2004. Trial of print and telephone delivered interventions to influence walking. Prev Med. 39 (3), 635-641.
- C. Foster J. Richards M. Thorogood M. Hillsdon Remote and web 2.0 interventions for promoting physical activity (Review) Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 9 2013; CD010395.
- Kolar, T., Kolar, I., 2008. What Respondents Really Expect From Researchers. Evaluation Review. 32 (4), 363-391.
- Higgins JP, Savović J, Page MJ, Sterne JA. Revised Cochrane risk-of-bias tool for randomized trials (RoB 2). 2019.

Paper II

(2019) 11:2

# **RESEARCH ARTICLE**

# **Open Access**

# Long-term members' use of fitness centers: a qualitative study



Liv Riseth<sup>1,2\*</sup>, Torunn Hatlen Nøst<sup>1</sup>, Tom I. L. Nilsen<sup>1,3</sup> and Aslak Steinsbekk<sup>1</sup>

# Abstract

Background: Although the health benefits of physical activity are well documented, a large proportion of the population remains less active than recommended by current guidelines. Commercial fitness centers provide an opportunity to perform physical activity and exercise, but there has been little research focusing on ordinary members at commercial fitness centers. The aim of this study was therefore to explore what long-term members (> 2 years) wanted to achieve with their membership and to identify important factors that influenced them to use the fitness center as a means for physical activity.

Method: This was a qualitative study with 21 semi-structured individual interviews of adult long-term fitness center members in Trondheim, a city in Central Norway with approximately 190,000 inhabitants. The participants had been continuous fitness center members for more than two years and were asked about their experiences using a fitness center and what they wanted to achieve with the membership. The data was analyzed thematically with the method of systematic text condensation.

**Results:** The results were categorized into three main themes: "Health benefits and physical appearance"; "Accessible, safe, and comfortable to use"; and "Variety, flexibility, and support." The participants stated that they wanted to achieve health benefits, but they also talked about physical appearance. The fitness center was mainly described as easily accessible and a comfortable place for physical activity. Some female participants emphasized the feeling of safety compared to outdoor activity. Variation in activities, making commitments, and getting support from staff and other members were factors contributing to use of the fitness center for physical activity.

Conclusion: Achieving desired health benefits and improving physical appearance were the main drivers for long-term members' use of the fitness center. The fitness center was preferred due to the comfort of the facilities and the possibility to commit to specific exercise times and activities.

Keywords: Fitness center, Physical activity, Long-term members, Qualitative methods

# Background

The effects of physical activity to improve or maintain good health are well documented [1]. Despite public health recommendations and encouraging advice to stay physically active [2, 3], approximately 30% of adults worldwide are physically inactive [4]. Physical activity behavior depends on a multitude of barriers and facilitators [5], such as accessibility [6-8], weather [9], and social support [10, 11]. In addition, it includes many different psychological components, such as habits [12, 13], planning [14-16], perceived

<sup>2</sup>3T- Fitness Center, Vestre Rosten 80, 7075 Tiller, Norway

Full list of author information is available at the end of the article



BMC

© The Author(s). 2019 Open Access This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license, and indicate if changes were made. The Creative Commons Public Domain Dedication waiver (http://creativecommons.org/publicdomain/zero/1.0/) applies to the data made available in this article, unless otherwise stated.

behavioral control [17], motivation [18], physical activity

identity [17], personality [19], and self-efficacy [16, 17]. Due

to the high prevalence of physical inactivity, increased levels

Commercial fitness centers represent one opportunity

to be physically active. The majority of fitness centers

offer both group and individual activities [21, 22]. In

recent years, there has been an increase in the propor-

tion of people who attend commercial fitness centers,

with 15% of the European adult population doing so in 2013 [23]. This number is higher in some countries; for

instance, it is 19.4% in Norway [24]. Statistics show a

steady increase in attendance at private fitness centers in

European countries; the number of members was 56.4

of physical activity are a global public health priority [20].

<sup>\*</sup> Correspondence: liv.riseth@ntnu.no

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Department of Public Health and Nursing, Norwegian University of Science and Technology, P.O.Box 8905, 7491 Trondheim, Norway

million at the end of 2016, which was an increase of 4.4% from the previous year [24]. Thus, fitness centers are an important arena for physical activity. However, it has been found that members would like to exercise more regularly than they do [25].

Former studies among fitness center members have focused on reasons to become and remain a member [25, 26] and have highlighted motivational differences between fitness center and sports club members, e.g., sports club members are reported to be more motivated by competition, pleasure, and social factors and less concerned with appearance than fitness center members [21, 27, 28]. It has also been found that women report a slightly higher desire for wellness, a well-trained body, and weight loss than men do, while men report a desire for improved physical fitness [22, 25, 27, 29, 30].

Although a large proportion of the population are fitness center members, research on exercise behavior of members in fitness centers is limited in quantity and quality [31]. Therefore, it is important to gain in-depth knowledge of ordinary members (those who pay regular membership fees). Long-term members are an especially interesting group as they might have found a way to use the fitness center to achieve their goals for physical activity over time. However, we have not found any studies focusing exclusively on long-term members.

The aim of this study was therefore to explore what long-term members (> 2 years) wanted to achieve with their membership and to identify important factors that influenced them to use the fitness center as a means for physical activity.

# Methods

This was a qualitative study with semi-structured face-to-face individual interviews conducted between March 2015 and November 2016.

#### Setting

In Norway, with 5.2 million inhabitants, it is estimated that there are 1079 fitness centers [24]. Within physical activity, there is also a strong tradition for participating in voluntary organizations in Norway, where sports clubs constitute the largest proportion [32].

This study took place among members of different fitness centers in Trondheim, a city in Central Norway with approximately 190,000 inhabitants, within the 3 T-Fitness Center chain (www.3t.no). 3 T established its first fitness center in 1985, and the chain is now the largest fitness center chain in Central Norway, with 16 fitness centers and approximately 40,000 members. During data collection, the fitness center chain had a total of 12 fitness centers, with eight of them located in Trondheim. A membership in this fitness center chain has a cost of 350–550 NOK (approximately 40–60 EUR) per month. To become a member, one has to sign a one-year contract; thereafter, one can terminate the contract one month after giving notice. The centers in this chain have a diversity of training opportunities, with a main workout area that primarily consists of free weights, weight machines, rowing machines, stationary exercise bikes, elliptical trainers, and treadmills. Nearly all centers offer group classes, personal trainers, saunas, and member lounges with simple café services. Some centers offer squash, childcare, and physical therapy. The largest center also has a swimming pool and a wellness area.

# Participants

The inclusion criteria for this study required that each participant was older than 18 years and had been a paying member for more than two years continuously (to avoid the large proportion terminating their membership after the obligatory one-year contract) at one of the eight 3T fitness centers in Trondheim. We sought a sample with diversity in gender, age, frequency of visits, and types of services used, ranging from those included in the membership to services with extra cost such as hiring a personal trainer.

The first step in recruiting participants consisted of randomly selecting from the membership register 24 members who met the inclusion criteria. Each of these prospects received a letter or an email with information about the study and a request to participate. The message also stated that they would be contacted by phone after two weeks if they did not respond before that time. Of these 24, 16 responded positively and were interviewed. However, none of these participants were under the age of 27, nor had they used additional services with extra cost. Therefore, eight additional prospects were identified in the member register or by employees at the fitness center. They were contacted as described above, resulting in two more participants who were in their early 20s and three participants (age range 30-57 years) who had used services with extra cost (personal trainer, physiotherapist, and / or nutrition supervisor).

## Data collection

The interviews were conducted by the first author at a place chosen by the participants and lasted from 32 to 62 min (average 48 min). The interviews were audiotaped and transcribed verbatim.

An interview guide with open-ended questions was developed by the first author, based on former literature about fitness center use, goal achievement, motivation, and the patient experiences questionnaire (PEQ) [26, 29, 31, 33–35], as well as discussions among the authors and a research group three of the authors belong to. The four main questions were: "Can you tell me about your

experiences of being a member at the fitness center?", "What contributes to your use of the fitness center?", "What do you want to achieve with the membership?", and "Is there anything the fitness center can do to make it easier for you to achieve what you want with the membership?". The following topics were introduced if the participant did not spontaneously talk about them: description of your own physical activity behavior; what affects your use of the fitness center (facilities, opening hours, activities available, social interactions, family, friends, and support and presence of staff); and reasons why you achieve / do not achieve what you want with the membership.

# Data analysis

The data was analyzed thematically with the method of systematic text condensation (STC) by Malterud, which is inspired by Giorgi's psychological phenomenological method [36]. An illustration of the STC process and how the participant responses were coded and categorized is given in Table 1. The STC process is an iterative four-step method suitable for descriptive cross-case analysis of qualitative data. The method was chosen because it is well suited to present participants' experiences, rather than the possible underlying opinions of what was told [36]. All interviews were held in Norwegian and the material was kept in its original language throughout the analysis. The data analysis was conducted by the first author in cooperation with the co-authors and discussed twice in an established research group.

In the first step of the analysis, the first author and the co-authors read the transcripts from a bird's-eye perspective to identify preliminary themes. In the second step, meaning units (text segments) relevant to the aim of the study were identified by the first author, then coded and sorted into code groups based on the preliminary themes. The second step was done repeatedly, with several meetings and discussions among co-authors and the research group. MindManager [37] was used as a systematization tool in this part of the analysis. In the third step, a condensed description of the citations in each code group was made using the participants' original phrases. Finally, in the fourth step, the descriptions were rephrased into analytical text.

The first sequence of analysis included the first thirteen interviews and was performed to identify areas that needed to be explored in more detail in further interviews. This was done because analyzing the data stepwise may contribute to systematic improvement of data collection, facilitate reflection, and reduce the number of participants needed [36, 38]. The four steps of the STC were performed repeatedly in both the preliminary stages and the final analysis, leading to several changes and modifications before the final themes were agreed upon.

The analysis was validated by continuously checking the findings against the transcripts, especially after the final analysis. The first author identified illustrative citations and discussed them with the co-authors to choose the ones that best illustrated the themes. These were translated from Norwegian to English by the first author and checked by the other authors.

# Results

A total of 21 long-term members (11 females and 10 males) from eight different fitness centers were interviewed (Table 2). They had been members for 2–20 years and their average age was 43 years (range 20–71 years).

What long-term members wanted to achieve with their membership is described in the theme "Health benefits and physical appearance." Their experiences with factors affecting their use of the fitness center as a means for physical activity were categorized into the themes "Accessible, safe, and comfortable to use" and "Variety, flexibility, and support."

# Health benefits and physical appearance

The long-term members said that they used the fitness center to achieve desired health benefits. The main examples of health benefits were more energy, improved mood and sleep, reduced stress, better well-being, or feeling happier after the workout. Some participants with health complaints said that use of the fitness center was a necessity for their daily function, e.g., to prevent deterioration of their health complaint, and as an aid in pain management.

Table 1 Illustration of the steps in STC

Step 1: Preliminary theme	Step 2: Meaning units (direct citation from informant)	Step 3: Condensed description	Step 4: Final theme and analytical text
Achieves physical and mental health benefits	"The important thing for me is that I manage to avoid another operation on my knee. Water gymnastics is good for me and I want to continue with this in the future." "Yes, I feel the positive effects exercise has for me, in relation to both energy and my mood. And my anxiety, it affects that a lot. I have had years where I only have been sitting indoors, without getting out of the house"	Exercise is positive in relation to my health; it also leads to more energy and better mood.	Theme: Health benefits and physical appearance Analytical text: The fitness center was [] and to achieve desired health benefits.

Characteristics	Participants N (%)	All similar members at fitness center chain %*
Gender		
- Female	11/53%	59%
- Male	10/47%	41%
Age		
- 20–29	6/28.5%	26%
- 30–49	9/43%	45%
- 50–71	6/28.5%	22%
Duration of membership		
- 2–5 years	9/43%	Median: 2–5 years
- 6-10 years	8/38%	
- > 10 years	4/19%	
Number of visits last two years		
- < 9 visits	1/5%	9%
- 10–49 visits	8/38%	35%
- 50–100 visits	8/38%	24%
- > 100 visits	4/18%	32%
Highest level of education		
- Primary school / Lower secondary school	1	
- Upper secondary school	5	
- Some college / university courses	4	
- Bachelor's degree	11	
- Graduate degree or Advanced degree	2	
Employment status		
- Student (university) full time	1	
- Student and working part time	4	
- Working part time	4	
- Working full time	8	
- Receiving disability benefits or other auxiliary benefits	2	
- Retirement pension	1	

Table 2 Demographic characteristics of Participants and members at the fitness centers who have been continuous members for at least two years

\* All paying members from November 2014 to November 2016 at 3 T-Fitness Center

Yes, I feel the positive effects exercise have for me, in relation to both energy and my mood. And my anxiety, it affects that a lot. I have had years where I only have been sitting indoors, without getting out of the house. (Female, 30–49 years, member for 8 years).

However, during the interviews some long-term members mentioned that they wanted to achieve a better look. Physical appearance was seldom directly talked about as a reason. The participants rather mentioned it in passing, e.g., adding it after having talked about another reason, followed by a joke or laughter. The things they said that concerned physical appearance included a fear of becoming overweight, wanting to get into the clothes they had worn before, reducing abdominal size, and becoming more

# muscular.

I have never been concerned about how I look and exercise solely in order to be able to continue to work and avoid a new knee replacement. But I should perhaps have reduced this slightly [laughs and pats the stomach]. (Male, 50–71 years, member for 4 years).

Male participants, in particular younger males, talked more about wanting to achieve a muscular body and becoming stronger, while female participants talked more about weight loss. When asked about the reason for their focus on physical appearance in relation to the use of the fitness center, some female participants talked about increased emphasis in society on being thinner and fit.

It feels like we should have been a little leaner, yes actually a little better at everything. If you do not exercise and stay healthy and slim, you are almost a bit questionable. According to everything that is communicated from the fitness center and health authorities (short pause). I do not like that it affects me so much. (Female, 30–49 years, member for 6 years).

# Accessible, safe, and comfortable to use

The fitness center was primarily described as a comfortable place to be physically active. It was common to talk about physical activity in the fitness center as easier than being active outdoors. Due to the indoor comfort, avoiding bad weather and winter darkness, they said the fitness center made it easier to motivate themselves to be physically active. Living or working near the fitness center, ample opportunities for parking, and public transport were also given as reasons. Some female participants emphasized the importance of increased security when using the fitness center for physical activity compared to exercising outdoors on their own.

I feel safe when I visit the fitness center and it is cozy getting inside to the reception area with those flames from the fireplace and the friendly staff in the reception. I am afraid of the dark and yes, I am a little afraid of being assaulted by someone when running outside. (Female, 20–29 years, member for 3 years).

Even though some participants talked about how they enjoyed using the fitness center for physical activity, they described different challenges and barriers that hindered them in using the fitness center as much as they wanted, e.g., too little time, no childcare, and low motivation to get out of the house. Participants with children living at home especially expressed difficulties finding time and energy. It was said that having commitments such as appointments with others, pre-booked activities, or payment of no-show fees could help them to prioritize physical activity at the fitness center.

It is a bit odd because I like it when I am at the fitness center, but sometimes or actually quite often, it is hard to get out of the door at home. It is very positive that one must pay if one does not meet for (pre-booked) group classes, because then I have to go. (Female 20–29 years, member for 2 years).

Payment of membership fees and fees for working with personal trainers were said to affect use of the fitness center for some long-term members; typically, they wanted to use the services they had paid for. However, most participants stated that the fee was not something they thought of. One participant who was receiving disability benefits talked about the fitness center as an affordable option for exercise and as the only possibility to be regularly physically active.

It is cheap for me to be a member of the fitness center and it means a lot to me, since I have limited money available. I do not have much money to spend when all expenses are paid, but it is working fine for me to pay a small amount each month [to be a member of the fitness center]. (Female, 50–71 years, member for 4 years).

Some of the long-term members said that they valued the fitness center as a social meeting place where they could spend time with friends, family, and colleagues and make new acquaintances. This was facilitated by a friendly atmosphere at the fitness center and services like the opportunity to buy a cup of coffee and sit down for a chat.

I appreciate having the opportunity to socialize with my friend and that we can sit down, relax, and have a chat after the workout. In fact, I always work out with someone. It's social. (Male, 50–71 years, member for 9 years).

# Variety, flexibility, and support

Variety, with both group classes and various possibilities for self-training, was said by some long-term members to be important with regard to regular use of the fitness center for physical activity. Those using mainly group classes or self-training had different explanations for their use of the fitness center facilities as a means for physical activity.

A typical argument given for participating in group classes was as a help to exercise more vigorously compared to self-training. Some also said that they preferred group classes because they were time limited and followed a fixed structure. Furthermore, some spoke about the boost they got from the atmosphere and enthusiasm in the group classes. This was also mentioned as a reason for going to the fitness center in general, since it required less self-motivation. Other things mentioned were enjoyable experiences, being in a group with others, mastering a new step in a choreography, or a pleasant conversation.

As an example, if I had chosen a fitness center without classes, instructors, or those types of facilities, I would have needed the inner motivation for exercising, and to be honest — that is not strong enough. I need something and someone to motivate me. (Male, 30–49 years, member for 5 years).

The reasons for preferring self-training were described somewhat differently from group classes. The arguments given for self-training were flexibility, an all-in-one-place access to equipment, exercise at their own pace, and opportunities for targeted exercise in both strength and endurance. On the other hand, participants who did not perform self-training regularly spoke about challenges to implement it, e.g., because they found it boring, a duty, and not enjoyable.

I have got an exercise program; everything else is too hard, group classes and such. I take my program at my own pace and it strengthens me. It is a bit similar to what I do with the physiotherapist, but here I do not have to see so many sick people. (Female, 50–71 years, member for 4 years).

Some long-term members spoke positively about the help and the individual instructions they received from staff in the main workout area. It had helped them to understand what to do and how to do it when they used the fitness center. The staff were generally described as friendly, helpful, and knowledgeable if the members made appointments, but some perceived them as not very available for questions and help during workouts. Some participants had also used personal trainers and found it helpful for recognizing and understanding their physical capacity and getting a more efficient workout. Personal training was also described by some as helpful when implementing more regular use of the fitness center.

Yes, I thought I was exercising. However, I realized with guidance from a personal trainer that I previously had been far from being able to call it exercise. So, everyone should try a personal trainer to really understand what one should do and how. (Female, 30–49 years, member for 15 years).

# Discussion

The participants stated that they wanted to achieve health benefits, but they also talked about physical appearance. The fitness center was mainly described as easily accessible and a comfortable place for physical activity. Some female participants emphasized the feeling of safety compared to outdoor activity. Variation in activities, making commitments, and getting support from staff and other members were factors contributing to using the fitness center for physical activity.

There was a duality in what the long-term members wanted to achieve, between health benefits and appearance. The participants talked about the health benefits of physical activity as a main reason to use the fitness center. A survey has also found that members of fitness centers in Norway report they exercise to become fit rather than to gain a better-looking body [27], and the author suggested that it might feel better to say they exercise for fitness rather than for appearance. Similarly, in our study, appearance was mentioned as an additional reason after talking about health benefits. However, findings in another survey among fitness club members showed that seeing physical change as "becoming stronger" or "being able to see improvement in the way I look" were the main reasons for being physically active across age and gender [29].

This raises a question on whether long-term members of fitness centers are more occupied with their appearance than others doing physical activity in other settings. One study found this to be the case, with members of sports clubs being less concerned with appearance than fitness center members [27]. Similarly, a study on college students reported that those who engaged in exercise (e.g., aerobics, cycling, weight training) were more focused on appearance than those engaging in sports (e.g., tennis, basketball, soccer) [28]. It may be positive for fitness center members to focus on looks if it leads to a physically active lifestyle. However, for some, the focus on appearance might lead to a negative attitude towards oneself and make one exercise excessively [39-41]. It is therefore reasonable to question whether fitness centers should focus on appearance when marketing and promoting activities at the centers. In Norway, the main enterprise federation for fitness centers encourages them to be aware of the risk of excessive exercise in relation to disordered eating among their members.

Some of the participants said that they did not visit the fitness center as often as they wanted. A Danish report also found that most members of fitness centers would have liked to work out more frequently than they did [25]. An interesting finding in our study was that having committed to exercise through actions like pre-booking an activity, making a binding agreement with others, or making a payment was said to be the pressure they needed to visit the fitness center. This has not previously been reported, although it has been shown that making personal commitments using commitment devices with rewards or punishments for success or failure has been beneficial for behavioral changes [42, 43]. This can indicate that binding agreements such as pre-booking of activities, no-show fees, appointments, and even payments can be tested by the fitness centers to see if they promote increased use and consequently more regular physical activity among the members.

According to some participants in the present study, an important motivational factor for using the fitness center was the opportunity for social interaction. Participants reported benefits from social support from employees, group classes, and other members, but also from the possibility to be in a social setting. A review also concluded social support to be positively associated with levels of physical activity among adolescents [10], and another review on qualitative studies also found that development and maintenance of social support networks were important for participation in sport and physical activity [11]. Even if these reviews focus on physical activity in general, together with this study it is reasonable to hypothesize that fitness centers can help members to increase their motivation to use the fitness center if they facilitate more opportunities for social interaction. Moreover, a conscientious use of both social interaction and binding agreements might be even more helpful and motivating for some members.

As expected, all participants appreciated that the fitness center was easily accessible, safe, and a comfortable place to be, especially during the fall and winter months. It has also been suggested in a review that levels of physical activity vary with seasons [9]. On the other hand, one study found that weather showed a weaker relationship with physical activity than did accessibility [6]. Similarly, another study found that weather had modest effects on physical activity [44]. In general, easily accessible opportunities for physical activity are positively correlated with the level of activity [6–8]. Thus, in a public health perspective it is important to emphasize that having safe and easily accessible fitness centers might be a driver for more regularly physical activity in the population.

The factors identified in this study are based on experiences from long-term members who have chosen to continue as members for an extended period and naturally are quite satisfied with the fitness center as an arena for physical activity. However, the factors identified are most likely quite similar for all members, regardless of membership duration [26]. It is also possible that the identified factors are important factors generally to maintain physical activity over time.

# Strengths and limitations

A strength in the study is that it is the first to investigate what long-term members want to achieve with their membership and factors affecting their use of the fitness center as a means for physical activity. Another strength lies in the diversity of the sample. A limitation was that the study was done in a restricted geographical area and in only one fitness center chain. It also focused on long-term members and thus not those who for various reasons have terminated their membership. Moreover, it is possible that invited members who did not want to participate in the study are different from those who enrolled. Furthermore, younger participants were few in number. Younger participants might have had different experiences due to having other motives for participation in physical activity [45]. Given the similarity with findings in other studies on maintaining physical activity [26], it is not likely that the lack of younger participants has influenced the findings in the current study.

We consider it as a strength that the authors, who all took part in the analysis, have different backgrounds and experiences. Having researchers with other backgrounds, using a theory-driven approach, or doing member checking by inviting the participants to comment on the results could have produced other understandings and explanations.

At the time of the completion of the study, the first author worked in the administration of the fitness center chain, which might have influenced the research process. This was duly handled by having the co-authors participate in all steps of the research process, paying attention to the possibility of biases.

# Conclusion

This study indicates that the main drivers for long-term members' use of a fitness center is to achieve desired health benefits and improve physical appearance. The prominent factors for using the fitness center were the comforts of the facilities and the ability to commit to exercise through fixed times for group activities, bookings, payments, and training agreements. Female members also valued the fitness center as a safe place for physical activity. Still, being physically active to the degree one wants is challenging, even for some long-term members.

From a public health perspective, the findings in this study point to commitment and having access to safe and easily accessible arenas for physical activity as being possible drivers for physical activity maintenance.

Further research is required to quantify the knowledge from this study. Doing a questionnaire-based survey with a randomly selected sample of fitness center users is recommended.

# Abbreviation

STC: Systematic text condensation

#### Acknowledgements

We thank all the participants, Hilde Thommesen Holck (CEO of 3 T-Fitness Center), Tor Albert Thommesen (Chairman of the Board of 3 T-Fitness Center), The Research Council of Norway, and 3 T-Fitness Center for involvement in and contributions to the project.

#### Funding

This research was funded 50/50 by 3 T-Fitness Center and The Research Council of Norway with grant number 239657.

In the anonymized transcripts it is possible to identify the participants, and restrictions therefore apply to the availability of these data. Due to regulations of The Regional Committee for Medical and Health Research Ethics, we have to secure the anonymity of the participants. Parts of the anonymized transcripts are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

# Authors' contributions

LR and AS designed and planned the project. LR collected data, performed data analysis, and drafted and completed the manuscript. AS participated in every part of the data analysis. AS, TILN, and THN participated in analysis meetings and commented on the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final version to be published.

# Ethics approval and consent to participate

The study was submitted to The Regional Committee for Medical and Health Research Ethics in Central Norway (2014/1870 REK Midt) and they assessed it as not being health research and therefore not needing their approval. The study was approved by NSD — Norwegian Centre for Research Data (NSD 40604/3/SSA).

The study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. Participants received written and oral information about the project before the consent form was signed. The interviewer informed the participants of their right to withdraw from the study at any time. The project was considered to have low or no risk for the participants. Confidentiality was ensured by keeping transcripts anonymized and audio files locked in a filing cabinet. Data was only available to the authors.

# Consent for publication

Not applicable.

#### **Competing interests**

First author is an Industrial Ph.D. candidate and was employed in the administration of 3 T-Fitness Center at the time of data collection and writing of this article. The authors declare that there is no competing interests.

# **Publisher's Note**

Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

#### Author details

<sup>1</sup>Department of Public Health and Nursing, Norwegian University of Science and Technology, P.O.Box 8905, 7491 Trondheim, Norway. <sup>2</sup>3T- Fitness Center, Vestre Rosten 80, 7075 Tiller, Norway. <sup>3</sup>Clinic of Anaesthesia and Intensive Care, St Olavs Hospital, Trondheim University Hospital, Trondheim, Norway.

# Received: 6 December 2017 Accepted: 15 February 2019 Published online: 21 February 2019

#### References

- Warburton D, Nicol C, Bredin S. Health benefits of physical activity: the evidence. CMAJ. 2006;174(6):801–9.
- World Health Organization. Global recommendations on physical activity for health. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2010.
- Kahlmeier S, Wijnhoven T, Alpiger P, Schweizer C, Breda J, Martin B. National physical activity recommendations: systematic overview and analysis of the situation in European countries. BMC Public Health. 2015;15:133.
- Hallal P, Andersen L, Bull F, Guthold R, Haskell W, Ekelund U. Global physical activity levels: surveillance progress, pitfalls, and prospects. Lancet. 2012; 380(9838):247–57.
- Bauman A, Reis R, Sallis J, Wells J, Loos RJ, Martin BW. Correlates of physical activity: why are some people physically active and others not? Lancet. 2012;380(9838):258–71.
- Humpel N, Owen N, Leslie E. Environmental factors associated with adults' participation in physical activity: a review. Am J Prev Med. 2002;22(3):188–99.
- Powell LM, Chaloupka FJ, Slater SJ, Johnston LD, O'Malley PM. The availability of local-area commercial physical activity-related facilities and physical activity among adolescents. Am J Prev Med. 2007;33(4 Suppl):S292–300.

- Eriksson U, Arvidsson D, Sundquist K. Availability of exercise facilities and physical activity in 2,037 adults: cross-sectional results from the Swedish neighborhood and physical activity (SNAP) study. BMC Public Health. 2012;12:607.
- Tucker P, Gilliland J. The effect of season and weather on physical activity: a systematic review. Public Health. 2007;121(12):909–22.
- Mendonca G, Cheng LA, Melo EN, De Farias Junior JC. Physical activity and social support in adolescents: a systematic review. Health Educ Res. 2014; 29(5):822–39.
- Allender S, Cowburn G, Foster C. Understanding participation in sport and physical activity among children and adults: a review of qualitative studies. Health Educ Res. 2006;21(6):826–35.
- Tappe K, Tarves E, Oltarzewski J, Frum D. Habit formation among regular exercisers at fitness centers: an exploratory study. J Phys Act Health. 2013; 10(4):607–13.
- Maher JP, Conroy DE. Habit strength moderates the effects of daily action planning prompts on physical activity but not sedentary behavior. J Sport Exerc Psychol. 2015;37(1):97–107.
- Koring M, Richert J, Parschau L, Ernsting A, Lippke S, Schwarzer R. A combined planning and self-efficacy intervention to promote physical activity: a multiple mediation analysis. Psychol Health Med. 2012;17(4): 488–98.
- Caudroit J, Boiche J, Stephan Y. The role of action and coping planning in the relationship between intention and physical activity: a moderated mediation analysis. Psychol Health. 2014;29(7):768–80.
- Barz M, Lange D, Parschau L, Lonsdale C, Knoll N, Schwarzer R. Self-efficacy, planning, and preparatory behaviours as joint predictors of physical activity: a conditional process analysis. Psychol Health. 2016;31(1):65–78.
- Hansen BH, Ommundsen Y, Holme I, Kolle E, Anderssen SA. Correlates of objectively measured physical activity in adults and older people: a crosssectional study of population-based sample of adults and older people living in Norway. Int J Public Health. 2014;59(2):221–30.
- Owen KB, Smith J, Lubans DR, Ng JY, Lonsdale C. Self-determined motivation and physical activity in children and adolescents: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Prev Med. 2014;67:270–9.
- Rhodes RE, Smith NE. Personality correlates of physical activity: a review and meta-analysis. Br J Sports Med. 2006;40(12):958–65.
- Kohl HW, Craig CL, Lambert EV, Inoue S, Alkandari JR, Leetongin G, Kahlmeier S. The pandemic of physical inactivity: global action for public health. Lancet. 2012;380(9838):294–305.
- Ulseth A. Social integration in modern Sport: commercial fitness Centres and voluntary sports clubs. ESMQ. 2004;4:95–115.
- 22. Ulseth A. Treningssentre og idrettslag. Konkurrerende eller supplerende tilbud? Institute for Social Research, Norway. ISF. 2003:2.
- Eurobarometer S. Sport and Physical Activity. Brussel: TNS Opinion & Social; 2014.
- 24. Thidemann A, Rekdal, KE. Treningssenterbransjen 2016. VIRKE Trening, 2016.
- Kirkegaard KL, Østerlund K. Fitnesskultur mellem forening og forretning. Danish Institute for Sports Studies: Aktive fitnessudøveres træningsmotiver, tilfredshed og selvvurderede sundhed; 2010.
- MacIntosh E, Law B. Should I stay or should I go? Exploring the decision to join, maintain, or cancel a fitness membership. Managing Sport & Leisure. 2015;20(3):191–210.
- Ulseth A. New opportunities- Complex Motivations: Gender Differences in Motivation for Physical Activity in the Context of Sports Clubs and Fitness Centers. IJASS. 2008;Vol. 20(1):44–66.
- Kilpatrick M, Hebert E, Bartholomew J. College students' motivation for physical activity: differentiating men's and women's motives for sport participation and exercise. J Am Coll Heal. 2005;54(2):87–94.
- Mullen S, Whaley D. Age, gender, and fitness Club membership: factors related to initial involvement and sustained participation. IJSEP. 2010; 8(1):24–35.
- Ashton LM, Hutchesson MJ, Rollo ME, Morgan PJ, Thompson DJ, Collins CE. Young adult males' motivators and perceived barriers towards eating healthily and being active: a qualitative study. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2015;12:1–10.
- Middelkamp PJC, Steenberg B. The transtheoretical model and exercise behaviour of members in fitness clubs. J Fitness Res. 2015;4(2).
- Sivesind KH, Lorentzen H, Selle P, Wollebæk D. The voluntary sector in Norway: Composition, Changes, and Causes. Oslo: Institute for Social Research. Report. 2002;2.

- Roberts GC, Treasure D, Conroy DE. Understanding the dynamics of motivation in sport and physical activity: an achievement goal interpretation. In: Handbook of sport psychology. 3rd ed. Hoboken: John Wiley & Sons Inc; 2007.
- Gollwitzer PM, Sheeran P. Implementation Intentions and Goal achievement: a meta-analysis of effects and processes. Advances in experimental social psychology: Academic Press; 2006.
- Garratt A, Bjertnaes OA, Krogstad U, Gulbrandsen P. The patient experiences questionnaire PasOpp in somatic outpatient clinics. Tidsskr Nor Laegeforen. 2005;125(4):421–4.
- Malterud K. Systematic text condensation: a strategy for qualitative analysis. Scand J Public Health. 2012;40(8):795–805.
- MindManager. https://www.mindjet.com/mindmanager/. Accessed 29 Oct 2015.
- Malterud K. Qualitative research: standards, challenges, and guidelines. Lancet. 2001;358(9280):483–8.
- Lichtenstein MB, Griffiths MD, Hemmingsen SD, Stoving RK. Exercise addiction in adolescents and emerging adults - validation of a youth version of the exercise addiction inventory. J Behav Addict. 2018;7(1): 117–25.
- Eriksson L, Baigi A, Marklund B, Lindgren EC. Social physique anxiety and sociocultural attitudes toward appearance impact on orthorexia test in fitness participants. Scand J Med Sci Sports. 2008;18(3):389–94.
- Bratland-Sanda S, Sundgot-Borgen J. "I'm concerned what do I do?" recognition and management of disordered eating in fitness center settings. Int J Eat Disord. 2015;48(4):415–23.
- Bryan G, Karlan D, Nelson S. Commitment Devices. Annual Review of Economics. 2010;2(1):671–98.
- Rogers T. Commitment Devices. Using initatives to change healt behavior. JAMA. 2014;311(20):2065–6.
- Chan CB, Ryan DA, Tudor-Locke C. Relationship between objective measures of physical activity and weather: a longitudinal study. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Ac. 2006;3:21.
- Molanorouzi K, Khoo S, Morris T. Motives for adult participation in physical activity: type of activity, age, and gender. BMC Public Health. 2015;15:66.

#### Ready to submit your research? Choose BMC and benefit from:

- · fast, convenient online submission
- · thorough peer review by experienced researchers in your field
- rapid publication on acceptance
- support for research data, including large and complex data types
- gold Open Access which fosters wider collaboration and increased citations
- maximum visibility for your research: over 100M website views per year

# At BMC, research is always in progress.

Learn more biomedcentral.com/submissions



# Paper III

RESEARCH

# **Open Access**

# Fitness center use and subsequent achievement of exercise goals. A prospective study on long-term fitness center members

Liv Riseth<sup>1,2\*</sup>, Tom Ivar Lund Nilsen<sup>1,3</sup>, Torunn Hatlen Nøst<sup>5,6</sup> and Aslak Steinsbekk<sup>1,4</sup>

# Abstract

**Background:** Knowledge on the relationship between fitness center use and long-term members' subsequent goal achievement is limited. Therefore, the aim was to investigate the prospective association between the use of fitness centers during 18 months and subsequent self-reported goal achievement among long-term members.

**Methods:** This was a registry- and survey-based longitudinal study of 2851 people who had been members at a Norwegian fitness center chain for more than two years. Fitness center use from December 2016 to June 2018 was obtained from registry data. Subsequent goal achievement was measured in a survey in June 2018, assessed by a 1–100 visual analogue scale, and a score between 0 and 50 was defined as low goal achievement.

**Results:** Visiting the fitness center frequently and regularly, and having frequent group activity bookings were associated with higher subsequent self-reported goal achievement. Participants with fewest visits (1–57 days) during 18 months were more likely to report low goal achievement than participants with most visits (118–543 days) (OR=8.5; 95% CI 6.3–11.4). Fitness trainer bookings was not clearly associated with subsequent goal achievement.

**Conclusions:** Frequent and regular long-term fitness center use were associated with higher subsequent self-reported goal achievement.

Keywords: Fitness center, Goal achievement, Visits, Fitness trainer, Group activity and fitness center use

# Background

Despite overwhelming evidence of physical activity's beneficial effect on health and well-being [1], the proportion of the adult population who reaches WHO's [2] recommended level of at least 150 min of moderate or 75 min of vigorous physical activity throughout the week is low [3]. The same contradiction is also reflected in the use of fitness centers. Although members of fitness centers intend to use the centers regularly [3, 4], a substantial proportion of members has infrequent and irregular use

<sup>1</sup> Department of Public Health and Nursing, Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Post box 8905, 7491 Trondheim, Norway

Full list of author information is available at the end of the article



of the facilities [5]. A large proportion also terminates the membership after a short period [6].

Increasing physical activity and reducing the proportion of people who are physically inactive are significant public health priorities in many countries [8]. To achieve this, knowledge of factors that can motivate people to become and maintain physically active as recommended is therefore warranted [9]. Studies have reported that satisfaction with own goal realization can motivate people to maintain physically active over time [9, 10]. On the other hand, low goal achievement has been associated with negative emotions, reduced self-efficacy, and perceptions of failure that may reduce participation in physical activity [11]. Preventing low motivation and poor goal achievement could therefore be key factors to promote regular and sustained physical activity.

© The Author(s) 2022. **Open Access** This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/. The Creative Commons Public Domain Dedication waiver (http://creativeco mmons.org/publicdomain/zero/1.0/ applies to the data made available in this article, unless otherwise stated in a credit line to the data.

<sup>\*</sup>Correspondence: liv.riseth@ntnu.no

Fitness centers are essential arenas for physical activity in many countries [12]. They offer various exercise options in a safe environment, they facilitate social interaction, and the members often have access to qualified exercise guidance and coaching [13, 14]. Thus, use of such exercise facilities could motivate members to regular and sustained physical activity and aid people to reach their exercise goals.

Therefore, the aim was to investigate the prospective association between the use of fitness centers during 18 months and subsequent self-reported goal achievement among people who had been members at a fitness center for two years or more.

# Methods

This was a registry- and survey-based longitudinal study with membership registry data from December 1st 2016 to May 31st 2018, and survey data collected in June 2018. The "Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology" guidelines were consulted for the reporting of the study [15].

The study was conducted within the setting of a fitness center chain (www.3T.no) in Central Norway. Twelve of 3T's fitness centers are located in the city of Trondheim, which had approximately 205,000 inhabitants in 2020, and these centers had around 40,000 members at the time of data collection. All centers have a primary workout area, and most of the centers have group classes, fitness trainers, personal trainers, saunas, and member lounges with simple café services. Members can book a free-of-charge session with a fitness trainer to get help and guidance and a personalized exercise program, or choose to pay for a personal trainer for closer followup and guidance. Group activities in this chain are also numerous and various, including yoga, stretching, water gymnastics, spinning, strength training and aerobics, lasting from 20 to 90 min.

# Participants and procedures

The inclusion criteria were all adult members, aged 18 years or older at the time of survey distribution, who were registered with an e-mail address, been a paying ordinary member for a minimum of the two previous years and who allowed linkage to their membership data on use of the fitness center. Members with free or employee contracts, who were younger than 18 years of age, or whose memberships had not lasted 2 years were excluded.

3 T's head office sent an email to all 15,273 eligible members with information about the study and a link to the survey. The landing page for the survey included additional information about the study. Members who were willing to participate could tick two boxes: one confirming that they agreed to participate, the other confirming that they consented to having their membership data on the use of fitness centers be linked to their survey record. A reminder was sent to those who had not answered four days after the first request.

# Data collection

# Fitness center use

Data on the use of fitness centers was collected from the membership registry, including timestamps for visits, bookings of group activity, and fitness trainer bookings. The number of days with visits during 18 months were categorized into thirds (low (1-57), medium (58-117), and high (118-543)), as well as a separate category for those with zero visits. Similarly, participants were categorized into thirds based on number of group activity bookings (low (1-26), medium (27-80), and high (81-550)), as well as a fourth category with zero bookings. Fitness trainer bookings were categorized into none, one, and two or more bookings. To measure regularity in fitness center visits during the 18-month period, members were classified into three groups based on the number of three-month periods in which they had visited the fitness center at least once: ((1) all six periods, (2) four and five periods, and (3) less than four periods).

# Self-reported goal achievement

Self-reported goal achievement was measured on a visual analogue scale (VAS) using the question "On a scale from 0 to 100, to what degree do you experience reaching your exercise goals at the fitness center?" (0 [zero] = to a very little extent, 100 =to a very large extent). The distribution of score values was left-skewed, with most people reporting high goal achievement values (median=71, interquartile range 57-80). For the purpose of the linear regression analyses that compared mean score values between categories of the use of fitness centers, the goal achievement variable was log-transformed after inverting the measurement scale (i.e., higher score value on the inverted VAS indicates lower goal achievement), so that a VAS score of 80 was inverted to 20. To avoid missing data when log-transforming zero, 1 (one) was added to all score values. For logistic regression analyses, we constructed a binary variable where the participants were classified into low and high goal achievement based on the 20th percentile of the distribution of score values. Participants below the 20th percentile (i.e., VAS 0-50) were classified as having low goal achievement, and those on the 20th percentile and above (i.e., VAS 51-100) were classified as having high goal achievement.

#### Demographic data

The survey provided information on sex (male or female), age in years (<20, 20–29, 30–39, 40–49, 50–59, 60–69 or  $\geq$ 70), highest completed level of education (compulsory, middle, and higher) and employment (full-time work, part-time work, student, or not working due to occupational rehabilitation, unemployment or being laid off, disability benefits, being retired or other).

# Statistical analyses

Descriptive characteristics of the study population are presented as proportions within the four categories of days with visits. To obtain inferential statistics, we first used linear regression to compare mean goal achievement score between categories of the four variables representing long-term use of the fitness center (i.e., days with visits, three-month periods with visits, group activity bookings, and fitness trainer bookings). For all comparisons, participants with most frequent visits/bookings constituted the reference group. As described above, the scores for goal achievement were first inverted and then log-transformed. The results of the linear regression analyses are therefore presented as the ratio of geometric means with 95% confidence interval (CI) for each category, relative to the refence group. Secondly, we used logistic regression to estimate odds ratio (OR) with 95% CI of poor goal achievement. Similar to the linear regression analyses, participants with most frequent visits/ bookings constituted the reference group for all comparisons. All associations were adjusted for age (< 30, 30–39, 40-49, 50-59, 60-69 and  $\geq$  70 years), higher education (yes or no), and sex (male, female). We used Stata version 17 (StataCorp LLC, College Station, TX, USA) for all analyses.

# Results

Of the 11,139 eligible members, 2851 (26%) opened the email, accepted the invitation, completed the survey, consented to the linkage to the membership registry, and were available for statistical analyses (Fig. 1). Descriptive statistics of the study population appear in Table 1.

The number of days with visits to the fitness center during the 18 months before answering the survey ranged from 0 to 543 (mean of 97 (SD 73), with a median of 82 days (interquartile range 43 to 135)). Ranging from 0 to 100, goal achievement had a mean of 68 (SD=20) and a median of 71 (interquartile range=57–80).

Overall, less use of the fitness center was associated with poorer goal achievement (Table 2). Participants in the lowest third category of number of days with visits to a center had a geometric mean of 36 on the inverted goal achievement scale (i.e., higher values correspond to lower goal achievement), whereas those in the highest

n=4332 Invalid e-mail address (n=198) Did not open the e-mail (n=4132) Eligible participants n=11139 Particinants who did not respond n=8288 Included participants n=2851 Responded to the survey Accepted use of data from the membership registry - Confirmed submission of question Fig. 1 Flow chart of participants third (reference group) had a geometric mean of 19 (ratio

Potentially eligible participants

n=15471

that (reference group) had a geometric mean of 19 (ratio of geometric means = 1.9; 95% CI 1.8-2.1). Similarly, the ratio of geometric means comparing members with less than four 3-month periods of visits (geometric mean of 38) to the reference group with visits in all six 3-month periods (geometric mean of 24) was 1.6 (95% CI 1.5-1.8). The number of group activity bookings showed similar associations, with lower goal achievement in those with fewer bookings. There was no association between the number of bookings with a fitness trainer and mean goal achievement score.

Correspondingly, the use of fitness centers was inversely associated with the proportion who reported low goal achievement on the binary outcome variable (Table 3). Participants in the lowest category of days with visits (OR=8.5; 95% CI 6.3-11.4) and visits in less than four 3-month periods (OR = 4.7; 95% CI 3.6-6.2) were more likely to report low goal achievement than those in the categories with the highest number of days with visits and visits during all 3-month periods (reference groups), respectively. Members in the lowest third of group activity bookings were more likely to report low goal achievement than those in the upper third (OR = 5.1; 95% CI 3.7-7.1). There was some evidence that participants who reported two or more bookings with a fitness trainer were less likely to report low goal achievement than those without such bookings (OR = 0.6; 95% CI 0.4-1.0).

# Discussion

In this registry- and survey-based longitudinal study among long-term members of fitness centers, a higher number of days with fitness center visits and regular use of fitness centers during and 18 month period were

Excluded participants

	Proportion of pa	Proportion of participants according to number of days with visits						
Variable	0 (n = 70)	1–57 (n=924)	58–117 (n = 923)	118–543 (n = 934)	Total (n = 2851)			
Sex								
Female	60	65	63	59	62			
Male	40	35	37	41	38			
Age								
< 20 years	0	0	0	1	1			
20–29 years	1	7	9	13	10			
30–39 years	16	25	17	19	20			
40–49 years	31	29	24	24	26			
50–59 years	27	22	26	24	24			
60–69 years	20	12	14	11	13			
$\geq$ 70 years	4	5	10	8	8			
Education <sup>a</sup>								
Compulsory	0	1	2	1	1			
Middle	21	18	19	25	21			
Higher	79	81	79	73	78			
Employment								
Full time work	81	79	71	70	74			
Part time work	4	7	7	8	7			
Student	1	2	3	4	3			
Not in work <sup>b</sup>	13	11	19	17	15			
Other	0	1	1	1	1			

Table 1 Characteristics of the 2851 long-term members in the study population at the time of survey participation in June 2018

<sup>a</sup> Education: Compulsory (primary school and middle school graduation or lower), middle (high school graduation (duration 1–2 years), high school graduation (duration three years), certificate of apprenticeship (duration four years)), and higher (college/university graduation)

<sup>b</sup> Not in work: occupational rehabilitation, unemployed or laid off, disability benefits or retired

associated with higher subsequent self-reported achievement of exercise goals. Regarding the use of services within the fitness centers, the number of group activity bookings had associations similar to those observed for number of visits, whereas number of bookings with a fitness trainer was not consistently associated with goal achievement.

This study provides new knowledge on the association between the use of fitness centers and goal achievement. Goal achievement has typically been measured on whether concrete goals, such as number of daily steps [16, 17], minutes of physical activity per week, and changes in body weight [18], are met. However, such concrete measures omits the overall experiences of own goal achievement. Thus, the use of a single question to measure overall goal achievement could be used in other studies either alone or in addition to measures of concrete goals.

Visiting a fitness center at least once every third month was associated with higher goal achievement. Research has shown that few members use fitness centers regularly without periods of relapse [6]. Thus, measuring the regularity of visits, as done in this study, adds important knowledge about the maintenance of physical activity over time, which also is relevant for public health [19]. We have not found any other studies measuring regularity in this manner. Other studies tend to be cross sectional without clearly distinguishing frequency from regularity [20, 21].

It was also found that frequent fitness center visits were associated with higher goal achievement. A Danish report using cross-sectional questionnaire data asked about "regular exercise several times a week" and found that a higher proportion of members who answered yes to this also reported to achieve their exercise goals than members reporting irregular exercise (18% vs. 5%) [20]. In a published cross-sectional survey from Portugal measuring the association between self-reported weekly frequency of fitness center use and satisfaction, found no association [21].

Given the longitudinal design of our study, it seems fair to state that current available evidence points to frequent and regular fitness center visits is associated with higher goal achievement among long-term members. However,

Fitness center useduring 18 months	No. of persons (%)	Mean goal achievement score <sup>a</sup>	Crude ratio <sup>b</sup>	Adjusted <sup>c</sup> ratio <sup>b</sup>	95% Cl <sup>d</sup>
Number of days with visits (th	nirds)				
None	70 (3)	30	1.6	1.6	1.3-1.9
Low (1–57)	923 (32)	36	1.9	1.9	1.8-2.1
Medium (58–117)	924 (32)	25	1.3	1.3	1.2-1.4
High (118–543)	934 (33)	19	1.0	1.0	Ref
Number of three-month perio	ods with visits				
<4	268 (9)	38	1.6	1.6	1.5-1.8
4–5	441 (16)	31	1.3	1.3	1.2-1.4
6	2142 (75)	24	1.0	1.0	Ref
Number of group activity boo	okings (thirds)				
None	638 (22)	29	1.5	1.5	1.4-1.7
Low (1–26)	744 (26)	31	1.7	1.7	1.5-1.8
Medium (27–80)	729 (26)	27	1.5	1.5	1.3-1.6
High (81–550)	740 (26)	19	1.0	1.0	Ref
Number of fitness trainer boo	okings				
None	2391 (84)	26	1.0	1.0	Ref
1	273 (10)	25	0.9	0.9	0.8-1.0
≥2	187 (7)	24	0.9	0.9	0.8-1.0

 Table 2
 Fitness center use during 18 months associated with subsequent mean goal achievement score among 2851 long-term fitness members

CI = confidence interval

<sup>a</sup> Geometric mean from an inverted VAS (0–100). Higher score indicates lower self-reported goal achievement

<sup>b</sup> Ratio between geometric means

<sup>c</sup> Adjusted for age < 30, 30–39, 40–49, 50–59, 60–69 and  $\geq$  70 years), higher education (yes, no), and sex (man, woman)

<sup>d</sup> 95% CI for adjusted ratio

the bi-directional nature of goal achievement and the use of fitness centers needs to be kept in mind. Since we do not know the initial goal achievement status, the members' perceived goal achievement level at the study's start might have caused the members' fitness center use, instead of the other way around.

Thus, future longitudinal studies should assess goal achievement both before and after measuring the use of fitness centers.

In addition to visits, we also measured the use of fitness center services, group activity and fitness trainer bookings to further understand which aspects of the use of fitness centers were associated with goal achievement. Among our results, a higher number of group activity bookings was associated with higher self-reported goal achievement.

In a qualitative study among long-term members, joining group activities was told to demand less self-motivation, help to commit more to exercise, and induce more vigorous exercise than self-training [13]. Other studies have found that participating in group activities can improve health-related quality of life [22], enhance aerobic capacity [23], and affect physical activity behavior [24], which might help to explain why members using that specific service reported higher goal achievement.

Previous research has revealed that one-to-one support can contribute to regular fitness center use [25]. In addition, help and instructions given by fitness trainers have been described positively by long-term members in a qualitative study and said to increase their understanding of using the fitness center as a means for physical activity [13]. However, in the current study fitness trainer bookings were not consistently associated with members' subsequent goal achievement. One reason may be that very few members used that specific service and that most had only one booking during the 18-month period.

# Strengths and limitations

The longitudinal data and large number of participants are considerable strengths of the current study. In contrast to self-reported activity, registry data provides objectively measured activities and avoids measurement errors [26]. However, this only provided data on number of activities and not the length of or type of activity. Furthermore, the study only focused on activities related to the fitness center, and did not measure

Fitness center use during	No. of persons	No. of cases	Crude odds ratio	Adjusted odds ratio <sup>b</sup>	95% Cl <sup>c</sup>
Number of days with visits (thir	rds)				
None	70	22	6.7	6.9	3.9-12.2
Low (1–57)	923	339	8.4	8.5	6.3-11.4
Medium (58–117)	924	121	2.2	2.2	1.6-3.1
High (118–543)	934	60	1.0	1.0	Ref
Number of three-month period	ds with visits				
<4	268	117	4.7	4.7	3.6-6.2
4–5	441	124	2.4	2.4	1.9-3.0
6	2142	301	1.0	1.0	Ref
Number of group activity book	kings (thirds)				
None	638	165	4.5	5.5	3.9–7.8
Low (1–26)	744	199	4.7	5.1	3.7-7.1
Medium (27–80)	729	125	2.7	2.8	2.0-3.9
High (81–550)	740	53	1.0	1.0	Ref
Number of fitness trainer book	ings				
None	2391	464	1.0	1.0	Ref
1	273	54	1.0	1.0	0.8-1.5
≥2	187	24	0.6	0.6	0.4-1.0

**Table 3** Fitness center use during 18 months associated with subsequent goal achievement among 2851 long-term fitness members. Crude and adjusted odds ratio for reporting low goal achievement<sup>a</sup>

CI: Confidence interval

<sup>a</sup> Low goal achievement was defines as scores between 0 and 50 on the VAS-scale

<sup>b</sup> Adjusted for age (< 30, 30-39, 40-49, 50-59, 60-69 and ≥ 70 years), higher education (yes, no), and sex (man, woman)

<sup>c</sup> 95% CI for adjusted ratio

the influence of daily life, other physical activities, diet or other external factors.

The reliability or validity of the dependent variable, goal achievement, was not assessed in advance of the study [27]. Some members with no visits during the 18-month study period reported high goal achievement (i.e.,  $\geq$  50 on the 0–100 VAS scale). A possible explanation is that members who scored high on goal achievement without any visits were satisfied with their total activity level and did not differentiate activity inside and outside the fitness center. It is also possible that members were satisfied with the fitness center as an arena for physical activity but without using it during the last 18 months and thus reported high goal achievement. However, the dependent variable was measured with a single question, and the findings were in the expected direction, which indicates that the variable measured what was intended.

Another limitation was that only 26% of eligible members who opened the invitation email chose to participate. Low response rates can increase the risk of selection bias and reduce external validity. Furthermore, the participants were all members at one fitness center chain. Caution should therefore be used when generalizing the findings to other fitness center members.

# Conclusion

In this longitudinal study on long-term fitness center members, more days with fitness center visits and regular use of the fitness centers during an 18-month period were associated with higher subsequent self-reported exercise goal achievement.

#### Abbreviations

VAS: Visual analogue scale; OR: Odds ratio; CI: Confidence interval; SD: Standard deviation.

#### Acknowledgements

We want to thank all contributors, the study participants, Hilde Thommesen Holck (CEO at 3T), Tor Albert Thommesen (Chairman of the Board at 3T), Monica Leinum Bye (employee at 3T), Johnny Gaustad (employee at 3T), Bjørn Tore Norum (employee at 3T), Hildbjørg Fosse (employee at 3T), The Research Council of Norway and 3T-Fitness Center for involvement and contribution in the project.

#### Authors' contributions

LR and AS designed and planned the project. LR collected data, performed data analysis, and drafted and completed the manuscript. AS, TILN, and THN participated in every part of the data analysis and commented on the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final version to be published.

#### Funding

This work was supported by the 3T-Fitness Center and The Research Council of Norway with Grant Number 239657.
### Availability of data and materials

The anonymized data files are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

### Declarations

### Ethics approval and consent to participate

The study was conducted in accordance with the World Medical Association (WMA) Declaration of Helsinki—Ethical Principles for Medical Research Involving Human subjects. A request was sent to The Regional Committee for Medical and Health Research Ethics in Central Norway and there was no need for approval (2014/1870 REK Midt). This because the study did not include health research. The study was approved by NSD—Norwegian Centre for Research Data (NSD 40604/3/SSA). The Informants received information about the project, including contact information which was signed and accepted online before participation. The information about their right to at any time withdraw from the study. This study was considered to have low or no risk for the participants due to the nature of the intervention (questionnaire) and no collection of sensitive data.

### Consent for publication

Not applicable.

### **Competing interests**

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

### Author details

<sup>1</sup> Department of Public Health and Nursing, Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Post box 8905, 7491 Trondheim, Norway. <sup>2</sup>3T-Fitness Center, Vestre Rosten 80, 7075 Tiller, Norway. <sup>3</sup>Clinic of Anesthesia and Intensive Care, 5t. Olavs Hospital, Trondheim University Hospital, Trondheim, Norway. <sup>4</sup> Digital Health Care Unit, Norwegian Center for E-Health Research, Tromsø, Norway. <sup>5</sup> Department of Mental Health, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Trondheim, Norway. <sup>6</sup> Norwegian Advisory Unit on Complex Symptom Disorders, St. Olavs Hospital, Trondheim University Hospital, Trondheim, Norway.

# Received: 31 October 2021 Accepted: 10 January 2022 Published online: 13 January 2022

#### References

- Warburton DER, Bredin SSD. Health benefits of physical activity: a systematic review of current systematic reviews. Curr Opin Cardiol. 2017;32(5):541–56. https://doi.org/10.1097/hco.000000000000437.
- World Health Organization. Global recommendations on physical activity for health. World Health Organization; 2010. https://apps.who. int/iris/handle/10665/44399. 18 Oct 2021 ISBN: 9789241599979
- Hallal PC, Andersen LB, Bull FC, Guthold R, Haskell W, Ekelund U. Global physical activity levels: surveillance progress, pitfalls, and prospects. Lancet. 2012;380(9838):247–57. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(12)60646-1.
- Macintosh E, Law B. Should I stay or should I go? Exploring the decision to join, maintain, or cancel a fitness membership. Manag Sport Leis. 2015;20(3):191–210. https://doi.org/10.1080/23750472.2015.10250 93.
- Garon J-D, Masse A, Michaud P-C. Health club attendance, expectations and self-control. J Econ Behav Org. 2015;119:364–74. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jebo.2015.08.015.
- Middelkamp J, Van Rooijen M, Steenbergen B. Attendance behavior of ex-members in fitness clubs: a retrospective study applying the stages of change. Percept Mot Ski. 2016;122(1):350–9. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0031512516631075.
- Emeterio ICS, García-Unanue J, Iglesias-Soler E, Felipe JL, Gallardo L. Prediction of abandonment in Spanish fitness centres. Eur J Sport Sci. 2019;19(2):217–24. https://doi.org/10.1080/17461391.2018.1510036.
- World Health Organization. Global action plan on physical activity 2018–2030: more active people for a healthier world. World Health

Organization; 2018. https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/272722. License: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO

- Bauman AE, Reis RS, Sallis JF, Wells JC, Loos RJ, Martin BW. Correlates of physical activity: why are some people physically active and others not? Lancet. 2012;380(9838):258–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(12)60735-1.
- Stralen M, de Vries H, Mudde A, Bolman C, Lechner L. Determinants of initiation and maintenance of physical activity among older adults: a literature review. Health Psychol Rev. 2009;3:147–207. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/17437190903229462.
- Swann C, Rosenbaum S, Lawrence A, Vella SA, McEwan D, Ekkekakis P. Updating goal-setting theory in physical activity promotion: a critical conceptual review. Health Psychol Rev. 2020. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 17437199.2019.1706616.
- Directorate-General for Education, Youth, Sport and Culture (European Commission), TNS Opinion & Social; 2018. Special Eurobarometer 472—December 2017 "Sport and Physical activity" Report (2018.1460). https://doi.org/10.2766/483047
- Riseth L, Nost TH, Nilsen TIL, Steinsbekk A. Long-term members' use of fitness centers: a qualitative study. BMC Sports Sci Med Rehabil. 2019;11:2. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13102-019-0114-z.
- Nikolajsen H, Sandal LF, Juhl CB, Troelsen J, Juul-Kristensen B. Barriers to, and facilitators of, exercising in fitness centres among adults with and without physical disabilities: a scoping review. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2021;18(14):7341. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph1814 7341.
- Vandenbroucke JP, von Elm E, Altman DG, Gotzsche PC, Mulrow CD, Pocock SJ, Poole C, Schlesselman JJ, Egger M. Strengthening the reporting of observational studies in epidemiology (STROBE): explanation and elaboration. Int J Surg. 2014;12(12):1500–24. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.ijsu.2014.07.014.
- Chevance G, Baretta D, Golaszewski N, Takemoto M, Shrestha S, Jain S, Rivera DE, Klasnja P, Hekler E. Goal setting and achievement for walking: a series of N-of-1 digital interventions. Health Psychol. 2021;40(1):30–9. https://doi.org/10.1037/hea0001044.
- Moon DH, Yun J, McNamee J. The effects of goal variation on adult physical activity behaviour. J Sports Sci. 2016;34(19):1816–21. https:// doi.org/10.1080/02640414.2016.1140218.
- Conroy MB, Yang K, Elci OU, Gabriel KP, Styn MA, Wang J, Kriska AM, Sereika SM, Burke LE. Physical activity self-monitoring and weight loss: 6-month results of the SMART trial. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2011;43(8):1568–74. https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.0b013e31820b9395.
- Ding D, Ramirez Varela A, Bauman AE, Ekelund U, Lee IM, Heath G, Katzmarzyk PT, Reis R, Pratt M. Towards better evidence-informed global action: lessons learnt from the Lancet series and recent developments in physical activity and public health. Br J Sports Med. 2020;54(8):462– 8. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2019-101001.
- Kirkegaard KL. Portræt af de aktive fitnesskunder—træningsmotiver, tilfredshed og selvvurderet sundhed. Delrapport 2 i projektet 'Sundhed for millioner'. København: Idrættens Analyseinstitut 2009; 2009. ISBN: 978-87-92120-16-8 https://www.idan.dk/vidensbank/downloads/portr aet-af-de-aktive-fitnesskunder-traeningsmotiver-tilfredshed-og-selvv urderet-sundhed/3a0c2e57-d604-48b5-808c-9cd200ac3ffe
- Gonçalves C, Meireles P, Carvalho M. Consumer behaviour in fitness club: study of the weekly frequency of use, expectations, satisfaction and retention. Open Sports Sci J. 2016;9:62–70. https://doi.org/10. 2174/1875399X01609010062.
- Barranco-Ruiz Y, Viteri S, Villa-González E. Dance fitness classes improve the health-related quality of life in sedentary women. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2020;17:3771. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17113771.
- Vendramin B, Bergamin M, Gobbo S, Cugusi L, Duregon F, Bullo V, Zaccaria M, Neunhaeuserer D, Ermolao A. Health benefits of Zumba fitness training: a systematic review. PM&R. 2016;8(12):1181–200. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.pmj.2016.06.010.
- Estabrooks PA, Harden SM, Burke SM. Group dynamics in physical activity promotion: what works? Soc Person Psychol Compass. 2012;6(1):18– 40. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-9004.2011.00409.x.
- McClaran SR. The effectiveness of personal training on changing attitudes towards physical activity. J Sports Sci Med. 2003;2(1):10–4.
- 26. Amireault S, Godin G. Validation of using fitness center attendance electronic records to assess the frequency of moderate/vigorous

leisure-time physical activity among adults. Meas Phys Educ Exerc Sci. 2014;18(1):13–30. https://doi.org/10.1080/1091367X.2013.831765.

 Portney LG, Watkins MP. Foundations of clinical research: applications to practice. 3rd ed. Hoboken: Pearson Prentice Hall; 2009. p. XIX, 892.

## **Publisher's Note**

Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

## Ready to submit your research? Choose BMC and benefit from:

- fast, convenient online submission
- thorough peer review by experienced researchers in your field
- rapid publication on acceptance
- support for research data, including large and complex data types
- gold Open Access which fosters wider collaboration and increased citations
- maximum visibility for your research: over 100M website views per year

### At BMC, research is always in progress.

Learn more biomedcentral.com/submissions



Appendix

## Appendix

1. (Motivation OR goal\* OR behavior OR use OR frequency OR attitude OR adherence OR aspiration OR commitment OR performance OR achievement OR "follow up" OR "long term" OR visit\* OR maintenance OR attendance OR participation OR (MESH): Motivation OR Exercise/psychology\* OR Behavior\* OR "Physical Fitness/psychology" ) AND (physical activity[MeSH Terms])

Filters: in the last 1/5 years, Humans, English, Adult: 19+ years, Adult: 19-44 years, Middle Aged + Aged: 45+ years, Middle Aged: 45-64 years, Aged: 65+ years, Young Adult: 19-24 years

2. Motivation[Mesh] AND (Exercise/psychology[Mesh] OR Physical Fitness/psychology[Mesh])

**3**. ("Cell phone"[MeSH Terms] OR "electronic mail"[MeSH Terms] OR "telephone\*"[Title/Abstract] OR "phone call\*"[Title/Abstract] OR "e-mail"[Title/Abstract]) AND "exercise"[MeSH Terms]

**4.** ("Cell phone"[MeSH Terms] OR "electronic mail"[MeSH Terms] OR "telephone\*"[Title/Abstract] OR "phone call\*"[Title/Abstract] OR "e mail"[Title/Abstract]) AND ("Fitness Centers"[MeSH Terms] OR "sports center\*"[Title/Abstract] OR "sports club\*"[Title/Abstract] OR "fitness club\*"[Title/Abstract] OR "fitness trainer\*"[Title/Abstract] OR "personal trainer\*"[Title/Abstract] OR "fitness club\*"[Title/Abstract])

**5**. (Goal[MeSH Terms]) AND (fulfillment[Title/Abstract]) OR (achievement[Title/Abstract]) OR (realization[Title/Abstract]) OR (attainment[Title/Abstract]) OR (accomplishment[Title/Abstract]) AND (activity, physical[MeSH Terms]) AND (y\_10[Filter])

Figure 1. Search strategies for Studies I-III and thesis



ISBN 978-82-326-6577-8 (printed ver.) ISBN 978-82-326-6777-2 (electronic ver.) ISSN 1503-8181 (printed ver.) ISSN 2703-8084 (online ver.)

